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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) was prepared as of March 4, 2021 and is management’s 
opinion about the consolidated operating and financial results of Freehold Royalties Ltd. and its wholly-owned 
subsidiaries (collectively, Freehold or the Company) for the year ended December 31, 2020, and the outlook for Freehold 
based on information available as of the date hereof. 

The financial information contained herein was based on information in the consolidated financial statements, which 
have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), which are the Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for publicly accountable enterprises. All comparative percentages are 
between the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, and all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian currency, 
unless otherwise noted. References to “US$” are to United States (U.S.) dollars. This MD&A should be read in 
conjunction with the audited financial statements and notes. 

Additional information about Freehold, including its Annual Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2020 
(AIF), once filed, can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and on its website at www.freeholdroyalties.com. 

This MD&A contains the following non-GAAP financial measures: operating income and its associated per boe measure 
operating netback, payout ratio, free cash flow and cash costs. These are useful supplemental measures to analyze 
operating performance, financial leverage, and liquidity, among others. However, these terms do not have any 

standardized meanings prescribed by GAAP and therefore may not be comparable with the calculations of similar 
measures for other entities. In addition, this MD&A contains forward-looking statements that are intended to help 
readers better understand Freehold’s business and prospects. Readers are cautioned that the MD&A should be read in 
conjunction with Freehold’s disclosure under “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” and “Forward-Looking Statements” 
included at the end of this MD&A. 

Business Overview 
Freehold is incorporated under the laws of the Province of Alberta and trades on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the 
symbol FRU. We receive revenue from oil and natural gas properties as reserves are produced over the life of the 
properties. Freehold’s primary focus is acquiring and managing oil and natural gas royalties.  

The Royalty Advantage 
We manage one of the largest non-government portfolios of oil and natural gas royalties in Canada with an expanding 
land base in the United States, uniquely positioning Freehold as a North American royalty company. Our total land 
holdings encompass approximately 6.3 million gross acres, greater than 99% of which are royalty lands. Freehold’s 
mineral title lands (including royalty assumption lands), which we own in perpetuity, cover approximately 1.1 million 
acres (over 570,000 acres are undeveloped) and we have gross overriding royalty and other interests in approximately 
5.2 million acres.  

We have royalty interests in more than 12,000 producing wells and 350 units spanning five provinces and eight states 
and receive royalty income from approximately 350 industry operators throughout North America. Our revenues also 
include potash, bonus consideration and lease rental income streams that diversify our royalty revenue portfolio. 
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Royalty rates vary from less than 1.0% (for some gross overriding royalties) to 22.5% (for some lessor royalties). Our 
North American land base lowers Freehold’s risk, and as a royalty owner, it benefits from the drilling activity of others 
without any capital investments. 

As a royalty interest owner, Freehold does not pay any of the capital costs to drill and equip the wells for production on 
its properties, nor does it incur costs to operate the wells, maintain production, and ultimately restore the land to its 
original state. All of these costs are paid by others. Freehold’s receives royalty income from gross production revenue 
(revenue before any royalty expenses and operating costs are deducted) resulting in strong netbacks. 

Freehold’s Strategy 
As a leading royalty company, Freehold's objective is to deliver growth and lower risk attractive returns to shareholders 
over the long term. Freehold accomplishes this by:  

• Creating value 

o Drive oil and gas development on Freehold’s lands through its lease out program and royalty optimization 
o Acquire royalty assets with acceptable risk profiles and long economic life 
o Generate gross overriding royalties for revenue growth 

• Enhancing value 

o Maximize Freehold’s royalty interests through a comprehensive audit and compliance program 
o Manage Freehold’s debt prudently with a target below 1.5 times net debt to funds from operations 

• Delivering value 

o Target a dividend with an adjusted payout ratio of 60%-80% 

Outlook 
Business Environment 
2020 was a significant year for Freehold, one in which we undertook a number of key initiatives to underpin the long-
term sustainability of our business and reinforce Freehold’s identity as a lower risk income vehicle for our shareholders. 

This was accomplished despite the challenging backdrop of COVID-19 and the sharp decline in oil prices. 

Although it was a significant year, 2020 also represented a challenging year for the oil and gas sector as the emergence 
of COVID-19 and the concurrent oil price decline impacted both Freehold’s funds from operations and production from 
our royalty lands. As the underlying business environment weakened, we responded to headwinds by making necessary 
adjustments to ensure the sustainability of our dividend and balance sheet, managing the near-term risk, with the goal 

of preserving Freehold’s identity as a lower risk income vehicle for our shareholders. We want to thank our employees 
for their patience and willingness to adapt during this period of uncertainty; their efforts have contributed significantly 
to the positive outlook we have moving forward. 

On the commodity front, West Texas Intermediate (WTI) prices averaged US$39.23/bbl for 2020, down approximately 
31% when compared to 2019. Prices ended the year averaging US$42.47/bbl in Q4-2020 and have displayed strong 
upward momentum since the lows in April. The macroenvironment for much of 2020 was dominated by weakened 

demand associated with COVID-19, further exacerbated by a supply war within OPEC plus that reduced WTI prices to 
multi-decade lows. Since making the necessary supply cuts, which included production curtailments within OPEC and 
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material shut-in of volumes worldwide, much of the focus driving the price rebound in H2-2020 has been associated 
with the progress of COVID-19 vaccines rollouts and the subsequent demand response, as countries attempt to return 
to life before the pandemic.  

In Canada, oil prices mirrored the global benchmarks in 2020 with Edmonton Light Sweet oil averaging $45.51/bbl, down 
approximately 35% versus 2019. Similarly, Western Canadian Select (WCS) averaged $35.64/bbl, down 39% versus 2019. 
Overall, Canadian fundamentals remain constructive as almost all of the 1.0-1.2 mmbbl/d of production curtailed in 
response to price weakness has come back online. Increased pipeline throughput along with a ramp-up in crude by rail 
volumes have helped lower storage levels reducing light and heavy differentials into year-end. In Alberta, provincial 
curtailments expired at the end of the year.  

For the first time in many years, Canadian natural gas prices displayed strong price appreciation with the AECO monthly 
contract price averaging $2.23/mcf in 2020, increasing 38% versus 2019. Similar to crude oil, AECO prices strengthened 
into year-end averaging $2.76/mcf, up 17% versus the same period in 2019. The AECO market remains well supported 
by a combination of a more functional tolling and transportation system, E&P producers managing production levels 
prudently, and further aided by a strong demand environment through the winter months.  

The Canadian Association of Drilling Contractors (CAODC) estimate approximately 3,300 wells were drilled in western 
Canada in 2020, down from approximately 4,900 wells in 2019 and approximately 7,000 wells in 2018.  The decline 
versus previous years was the result of a combination of multi-decade low oil prices and limited liquidity for exploration 
and development activities. While decline in activity marked a multi-year low, an improvement in the underlying 
commodity environment is expected to drive modest growth in drilling in 2021. CAODC is currently forecasting an 
increase of approximately 500 wells drilled in 2021, forecasting approximately 3,800 wells for the year.  

2021 Guidance 
Our key assumptions for 2021 are as follows: 
• With the resurgence in drilling activity on Freehold’s lands, we are increasing our 2021 guidance and assuming an 

average royalty production range of 10,500 boe/d to 11,000 boe/d. Royalty volumes are expected to be weighted 
approximately 55% oil and NGL’s and 45% natural gas.  

• We are assuming WTI and Edmonton Light Sweet oil prices of US$50.00/bbl and $58.00/bbl respectively, and AECO 
at $2.75/mcf. 

 

Subscription Receipts 
On December 5, 2020, Freehold issued 12,647,667 subscription receipts at a price of $4.80 per receipt through a public 

offering pursuant to Freehold’s short form prospectus and a concurrent private placement. The total gross proceeds 
from these subscription receipts was $60.7 million. Each subscription receipt entitled the holder to receive: (i) upon 

Guidance Dated
2021 Annual Average Mar. 4, 2021
Royalty production boe/d 10,500-11,000
West Texas Intermediate (WTI) crude oil US$/bbl 50.00$               
Western Canadian Select (WCS) crude oil Cdn$/bbl 58.00$               
AECO natural gas Cdn$/Mcf 2.75$                  
Exchange rate Cdn$/US$ 0.79$                  
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occurrence of all the outstanding conditions precedent to the closing of Freehold’s acquisition of certain U.S. based 
royalty properties (see Subsequent Events), one common share of Freehold; and (ii) a dividend equivalent payment 
equal to the number of subscription receipts times Freehold’s per share cash dividends paid or payable prior to the 
closing of its acquisition. As Freehold had an obligation to either issue the equivalent number of common shares or 
refund the subscription receipt proceeds as then held in trust, the Company reported subscription receipts payable and 

restricted cash of $60.7 million at December 31, 2020. 

Subsequent Events 
Increase in Monthly Dividend 
With an improved outlook for commodity prices and a strengthened business model, Freehold's Board of Directors (the 
Board) has approved increasing the monthly dividend from $0.02 to $0.03 per share, or $0.36 per share annualized. The 
$0.03 per share dividend will commence on April 15, 2021 and will be paid to shareholders of record on March 31, 2021. 
The dividend is designated as an eligible dividend for Canadian income tax purposes. 

Projected 2021 payout levels are below our stated dividend policy, which outlines a 60%-80% payout ratio over the long-
term based on forward looking funds from operations. The dividend increase announced today is at a measured pace 
as, although the commodity price outlook has improved substantially, there is still risk as the supply - demand balance 
for oil continues to be tenuous. We also see meaningful, high quality, acquisition opportunities across North America 
and feel it would be prudent to retain financial flexibility to pursue these as we work to continually enhance our portfolio 
positioning and business strength.  

U.S. Royalty Acquisition 
On January 5, 2021, Freehold closed an acquisition of U.S. royalty properties for US$58 million ($74.0 million) before 
customary adjustments and financed by the previously mentioned $60.7 million of subscription receipt proceeds and 
utilization of Freehold’s credit facilities. The acquisition included exposure to approximately 400,000 gross drilling unit 
acres of mineral title and overriding royalty interests across 12 basins in eight states; predominantly weighted towards 
the Permian and Eagle Ford basins. 2021 production associated with the acquired assets is forecast at 1,250 boe/d. 

Freehold also closed two additional U.S. royalty transactions subsequent to year-end, complementing our positions in 
the Bakken and Permian basins. Total consideration associated with these transactions was approximately $4.7 million 
and the assets are estimated to add 75 boe/d to 2021 average production.   
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Operating and Financial Highlights 

 

nm – not meaningful 
(1) Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period, basic 
(2) Based on the number of shares issued and outstanding at each record date 
(3) See Non-GAAP Financial Measures 
(4) See Conversion of Natural Gas to Barrels of Oil Equivalent (boe) 
 

Fourth Quarter Results Highlights: 

• Dividends declared for Q4-2020 totaled $0.05 per share, down 68% from the same period last year as the 2020 

dividend was reduced in May in response to the deteriorating commodity price outlook. Our payout ratio(1)  totaled 
24% for the quarter.  

• With decreasing volatility in oil prices and strength in operations, on November 10, 2020, Freehold announced a 
33% increase to the monthly dividend to $0.02 per share (annualized $0.24 per share). The first payment at the 
revised dividend level was paid to shareholders on record as of December 31, 2020 on January 15, 2021.  

• Funds from operations for Q4-2020 totaled $22.1 million, a decrease of 28% versus the same period in 2019. This 
reduction in funds from operations was primarily driven by the 24% reduction in commodity prices over the same 
period. On a per share basis, funds from operations totaled $0.19 per share in Q4-2020, down from $0.26 per share 
in Q4-2019, however, up from $0.17 per share in Q3-2020. 

FINANCIAL ($000s, except as noted) 2020 2019 Change 2020 2019 Change

Royalty and other revenue 25,793$        36,827$            -30% 89,958$        140,837$          -36%

Net income (loss) 373$             6,113$              -94% (13,931)$       5,193$               nm

   Per share, basic and diluted ($) (1) -$              0.05$                 -100% (0.12)$           0.04$                 nm

Cash flows from operations 20,610$        27,954$            -26% 65,767$        105,801$          -38%

Funds from operations 22,129$        30,659$            -28% 72,891$        118,098$          -38%

   Per share, basic ($) (1) 0.19$            0.26$                 -27% 0.61$            1.00$                 -39%

Acquisitions and related expenditures 222$             2,727$              -92% 7,058$          49,689$            -86%

Dividends paid 5,343$          18,675$            -71% 39,158$        74,663$            -48%

   Per share ($) (2) 0.0450$        0.1575$            -71% 0.3300$        0.6300$            -48%

Dividends declared 5,938$          18,683$            -68% 35,306$        74,663$            -53%

   Per share ($) (2) 0.0500$        0.1575$            -68% 0.2975$        0.63$                 -53%

Payout ratio (3) 24% 61% -37% 54% 63% -9%

Long term debt 93,000$        109,000$          -15% 93,000$        109,000$          -15%

Net debt 65,765$        94,634$            -31% 65,765$        94,634$            -31%

Shares outstanding, period end (000s) 118,788        118,623            -                118,788        118,623            -                      

Average shares outstanding (000s) (1) 118,747        118,568            -                118,685        118,486            -                      

OPERATING

Royalty production (boe/d) (4) 9,563            10,315              -7% 9,605            10,229               -6%

      Light and medium oil (bbl/d) 3,239            4,024                 -20% 3,449            3,814                 -10%

      Heavy oil (bbl/d) 1,173            1,089                 8% 1,018            1,034                 -2%

      NGL (bbl/d) 813               799                    2% 827               853                    -3%

Total liquids (bbl/d) 5,225            5,912                 -12% 5,294            5,701                 -7%

      Natural gas (Mcf/d) 26,027          26,416              -1% 25,868          27,166               -5%

Total production (boe/d) (4) 9,681            10,740              -10% 9,781            10,628               -8%

   Oil and NGL (%) 54                 57                      -4% 55                 56                       -2%

Average price realizations ($/boe) (4) 28.16$          37.04$              -24% 24.56$          35.78$               -31%

Cash costs ($/boe) (3)(4) 4.11$            5.10$                 -19% 4.63$            5.30$                 -13%

Operating netback ($/boe) (3) (4) 28.64$          36.19$              -21% 24.56$          35.28$               -30%

Three Months Ended December 31 Twelve Months Ended December 31
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• Freehold exited 2020 with long term debt of $93 million, implying debt to trailing funds from operations of 1.3 
times. This compares to $107 million (same ratio of 1.3 times) and $109 million (ratio of 0.9 times) in long term debt 
as of Q3-2020 and year-end 2019, respectively. Despite lower funds from operations causing an increase in this 
ratio from year-end 2019, the absolute decrease in leverage reflected funds from operations exceeding dividend 
obligations and acquisition capital. 

• Cash costs(1) for the quarter totaled $4.11/boe, up from $3.70/boe in Q3-2020 but down from $5.10/boe achieved 
during the same period last year. The decrease year-over-year reflects the disposition of high cost working interest 
assets, a reduced debt level, lower interest rates and associated borrowing costs, and lower G&A costs.  

• Q4-2020 net income totaled $0.4 million, driven predominantly by weaker crude oil prices and to a lesser extent, 
slightly lower royalty production. This compared to $6.1 million of net income in Q4-2019.  

• Freehold’s total royalty production averaged 9,563 boe/d, up 5% versus the previous quarter and down 7% versus 
the same period in 2019.  

• Royalty oil production, which has higher operating netbacks(1) and returns, averaged 5,225 boe/d in Q4-2020, 
increasing 4% when compared to the previous quarter and down 12% versus the same period in 2019.   

• Wells drilled on our Canadian royalty lands totaled 111 (4.9 net) in the quarter, up on a net measure versus 186 (4.5 
net) drilled during the same period in 2019. 

(1) See Non-GAAP Financial Measures. 

2020 Results Highlights: 

• Dividends declared for 2020 totaled $35.3 million ($0.2975 per share), down 53% versus 2019 when Freehold 
declared dividends of $74.7 million ($0.6300 per share). Our dividend payout for 2020 totaled 54%, at the lower end 
of our guided dividend payout range. As commodity prices and production volumes on our royalty lands improved 

through H2-2020 our funds from operations have outperformed expectations resulting in a payout ratio(1) of less 
than 60%.  

• Royalty and other revenue totaled $90.0 million in 2020, down 36% from the previous year as weakness in crude oil 
prices impacted revenue. Total royalty revenue was comprised of 79% oil and natural gas liquids (NGL’s) as we 
maintained our crude oil and liquids focus. 

• Funds from operations in 2020 totaled $72.9 million or $0.61 per share, down 38% from $118.1 million or $1.00 per 
share in 2019. The decrease year-over-year reflected weaker crude oil and liquids pricing and lower production 
volumes versus 2019. 

• Freehold completed $3.3 million in royalty acquisitions in 2020. Much of the focus was associated with smaller tuck-
in deals expanding Freehold’s position in North Dakota. Subsequent to year-end, Freehold completed its first 
material U.S. royalty transaction (see Subsequent Events). 

• 2020 royalty production averaged 9,605 boe/d, a 6% decrease versus the previous year as reduced full year third-
party royalty drilling additions and shut-in production negatively impacted volumes versus 2019. Since late Q2-2020 
however, royalty production has displayed steady growth into year-end, as producers have increased capital towards 
drilling and shut-in volumes have come back on-line on our royalty lands.  

• Oil and NGL’s volumes represented 55% of 2020 royalty production, down slightly from 56% in 2019 as weakness in 
crude oil prices during the year resulted in shut-in production which has since been brought back on-stream. 
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• In total, 372 (13.6 net) wells were drilled on our royalty lands in 2020, a 35% and 42% decrease on a gross and net 
measure respectively versus 2019. Despite the reduction in drilling year-over-year, Freehold saw a ramp-up in 
activity during Q4-2020 with 111 gross (4.9 net) wells drilled on our royalty lands, a 9% improvement on a net 
measure versus the same quarter in 2019. We saw a broadening of producers drilling on our royalty lands over the 
fourth quarter with southeast Saskatchewan, the Viking, the Cardium and the Sparky in Central Alberta driving much 
of drilling activity for the period. 

• Proved and probable oil and natural gas reserves (2) totaled 29.4 MMboe as at December 31, 2020, down from 31.7 
MMboe as at December 31, 2019. The slight decrease year-over-year reflected working interest dispositions and 
production despite additions from tuck-in acquisitions in North Dakota, drilling additions and an on-going evaluation 
of our undeveloped properties. 

(1) See Non-GAAP Financial Measures 
(2) A detailed review of Freehold's reserve information, including a summary of the evaluation of Freehold’s reserves and associated future net 

revenues as prepared by Trimble Engineering Associates Ltd., Freehold’s independent reserves evaluator effective as at December 31, 2020, 
is provided in the Annual Information Form (AIF). A copy of the AIF can be found on Freehold's website at www.freeholdroyalties.com or 
www.sedar.com. 
 

Financial and Operating Results 
Drilling Activity 

In total, 372 (13.6 net) wells were drilled on Freehold’s royalty lands in 2020, 42% and 35% decreases on a gross and net 
basis, respectively, versus 2019. Overall, Freehold saw reduced drilling activity associated with a more broad reduction 
in capital spending associated with its royalty payors, although we have seen producers increase capital budgets through 
H2-2020 and into 2021 as commodity prices have improved.  

In Canada and the U.S. during 2020, approximately 49% of gross wells on Freehold royalty lands targeted prospects in 
Saskatchewan, 40% in Alberta, 11% in Manitoba, and less than 1% in North Dakota. Producers continue to remain 
focused on oil prospects within Freehold’s land base with 87% of wells drilled targeting oil and liquids with 80% of net 
wells drilled targeting gross overriding royalty (GORR) prospects with the remaining 20% drilled on Freehold’s mineral 
title lands. The Viking in southwest Saskatchewan, Clearwater in central Alberta, Cardium in northwest Alberta and 
Sparky in central Alberta continue to be key areas of focus with Freehold’s top royalty payors remaining well capitalized. 

In Q4-2020, Freehold saw 111 gross (4.9 net) wells drilled on Freehold royalty lands which was more than double Q3-
2020 activity and an 9% improvement versus the same quarter in 2019. Looking forward, Freehold believes in the quality 
of both its Canadian and U.S. portfolios and that is expected to drive strong third-party production additions into 2021. 
The acquisition of additional U.S royalty production and royalty lands subsequent to 2020 is expected to further diversify 
and enhance Freehold’s asset base, bringing added sustainability to its portfolio and dividend. 

  



2020 | Annual Report | Freehold Royalties Ltd. 8

2020 | MD&A | Freehold Royalties Ltd.  8 

 

(1) Net wells are the equivalent aggregate of the numbers obtained by multiplying each gross well by Freehold’s royalty interest percentage. 
Production  
Freehold’s royalty production averaged 9,605 boe/d for 2020, down approximately 6% versus 2019. This decline was 
primarily associated with lower crude oil prices during the first half of 2020, which led to reduced drilling on our royalty 

lands, and increased shut-in production. For Q4-2020, Freehold’s royalty production averaged 9,563 boe/d, up 5% 
quarter-over-quarter. Production volumes were comprised of 45% natural gas, 35% light and medium oil, 11% heavy oil 
and 9% NGL’s. 

Working interest production declined 56% in 2020 versus the previous year. The reduction in working interest volumes 
was largely the result of dispositions in Q2-2020.  

Production Summary 

 

Average Daily Production by Product Type 

 
(1) On certain properties where we have both a royalty interest and a working interest, production is allocated based on the applicable royalty and working 

interest percentages. 

Gross Net (1) Gross Net (1) Gross Net (1) Gross Net (1)

Total 111          4.9          186         4.5            372          13.6         641          20.8         

2020 20192020 2019
Three Months Ended December 31 Twelve Months Ended December 31

(boe/d) 2020 2019 Change
Royalty interest 9,605 10,229 -6%
Working interest 176 399 -56%
Total 9,781 10,628 -8%

2020 2019 Change

Royalty interest (1)

Light and medium oil (bbls/d) 3,449                  3,814                  -10%

Heavy oil (bbls/d) 1,018                  1,034                  -2%

NGL (bbls/d) 827                     853                     -3%

Natural gas (Mcf/d) 25,868               27,166                -5%

Oil equivalent (boe/d) 9,605                  10,229 -6%

Working interest (1)

Light and medium oil (bbls/d) -                      39 -100%

Heavy oil (bbls/d) 45                       133 -66%

NGL (bbls/d) 16                       32 -50%

Natural gas (Mcf/d) 690                     1,167 -41%

Oil equivalent (boe/d) 176                     399 -56%

Total 
Light and medium oil (bbls/d) 3,449 3,853 -10%

Heavy oil (bbls/d) 1,063 1,167 -9%

NGL (bbls/d) 843 885 -5%

Natural gas (Mcf/d) 26,558 28,333 -6%

Oil equivalent (boe/d) 9,781 10,628 -8%
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Product Prices 
For 2020, WTI prices averaged US$39.23/bbl, 31% lower versus the average WTI price realized in 2019. WCS prices 
averaged $35.64/bbl in 2020, down 39% versus the same period in 2019. Edmonton Light Sweet price averaged 
$45.51/bbl during the year, a 35% decrease versus 2019.  

On the natural gas front, AECO prices averaged $2.23/mcf, up 38% versus last year. 

Average Benchmark  

 
The price Freehold receives for its oil production is primarily driven by the U.S. dollar price of WTI. It is also affected by 
the US$/Cdn$ exchange rate, with a decrease in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar increasing 
the revenue received. Freehold’s average realized oil prices also reflect product quality and transportation differences 
from benchmark prices. Freehold’s natural gas price realizations are discounted compared to AECO pricing as they, in 
some cases, include transportation and processing fees netted from certain natural gas royalty payments. 

Average Realized Prices  

 
On a boe basis, Freehold total average selling price was 31% lower in 2020, versus 2019, reflecting the weakness in 
crude oil benchmark pricing but as partially offset by a 38% increase in the AECO natural gas benchmark. 

Credit Risk Management 
Freehold’s royalty lands consist of a large number of properties with generally small volumes per property. Many of 
Freehold’s leases and royalty agreements allow it to take its share of oil and natural gas in-kind. As part of Freehold’s 

credit risk mitigation program, Freehold’s dedicated Compliance group carefully monitors its royalty receivables and 
may choose to take its royalty in-kind if there are benefits in doing so. Currently Freehold takes-in-kind and markets 
approximately 16% of its total royalty production using 30-day contracts. This compares to 12% in 2019, as with the 
retreat in commodity prices, Freehold has taken a more active approach to mitigating risk within its portfolio. 

As the business environment has become more challenged with COVID-19, Freehold’s dedicated Compliance group has 

further increased its scrutiny in its review of potential counterparty risk amongst its payors. Historically Freehold has 
not experienced significant collection issues. 

2020 2019 Change
West Texas Intermediate crude oil (US$/bbl) 39.23$               56.99$                -31%
Exchange rate (Cdn$/US$) 0.75$                  0.75$                  0%
Edmonton Light Sweet crude oil (Cdn$/bbl) 45.51$               69.58$                -35%
Western Canadian Select crude oil (Cdn$/bbl) 35.64$               58.70$                -39%
AECO monthly contract natural gas (Cdn$/Mcf) 2.23$                  1.62$                  38%

2020 2019 Change
Oil ($/bbl) 39.15$               61.87$                -37%
NGL ($/bbl) 22.75$               31.33$                -27%
Oil and NGL ($/bbl) 36.57$               57.29$                -36%
Natural gas ($/Mcf) 1.67$                  1.48$                  13%
Oil equivalent ($/boe) 24.56$               35.78$                -31%
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Royalty and Other Revenue 
Royalty and other revenues of $90.0 million in 2020 was down from $140.8 million or 36% relative to 2019. Specifically, 
royalty interest revenues before bonus consideration and lease rentals of $87.7 million was down 35% largely due to 
slightly lower production volumes and reduced commodity prices. Bonus consideration and lease rentals at $1.6 million 
for 2020 was consistent with 2019. Working interest revenue before royalty expense of $1.0 million was down 78% 
versus 2019 largely as a result of continued dispositions over the year. 

Revenue and other revenue by commodity type 

 

REVENUE AND OTHER REVENUE BY CATEGORY 

 

Operating Expenses 
Operating expenses are directly associated with Freehold’s working interest production activities. Freehold does not 
incur such costs on production from its royalty lands. 

The decrease in operating expenses to $2.0 million in 2020 from $3.9 million in 2019 was largely the result of reduced 
working interest production volumes associated with working interest property dispositions. 

 

Operating Income and Netback 
Royalty interests accounted for 99% of royalty and other revenue in 2020 and contributed all operating income. 

($000s) 2020 2019 Change
Oil 64,386$             113,379$           -43%
Natural gas 16,264 15,294 6%
NGL 7,017 10,120 -31%
Potash 1,042 1,173 -11%
Bonus consideration and lease rentals 1,565 1,521 3%

90,274$             141,487$           -36%
Royalty expense (316) (650) -51%
Royalty and other revenues 89,958$             140,837$           -36%

($000s) 2020 2019 Change

87,662$             135,305$           -35%

Bonus consideration and lease rentals 1,565 1,521 3%
Total royalty revenue 89,227$             136,826$           -35%
Working interest revenue before royalty expense 1,047 4,661 -78%
Royalty expense (316) (650) -51%

Royalty and other revenues 89,958$             140,837$           -36%

Royalty interest revenues before bonus consideration and lease 
rentals 

($000s, except as noted) 2020 2019 Change
Total operating expenses 2,032$               3,945$                -48%
   Per boe ($) 0.57 1.02 -44%
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2020 Operating Income (1)

 
 
2019 Operating Income (1) 

 

(1) See Non-GAAP Financial Measures. 
(2) Royalty interest revenue includes potash, sulphur, bonus consideration, lease rentals, interest and other. Working interest revenue includes processing fees. 
(3) Royalty expense includes both Crown charges and royalty payments to third parties. 

Freehold’s 2020 operating netback, calculated as operating income on a per boe basis totaled $24.57/boe, down 30% 
versus 2019. The decrease year-over-year reflected lower oil prices, partly mitigated by sold working interest assets. 

2020 Operating Netback (1) 

 

2019 Operating Netback (1) 

 

2020 vs. 2019 Operating Netback (1) 

 

(1) See Non-GAAP Financial Measures. 

Twelve months ended December 31, 2020

($000s) Royalty Interest Working Interest Total

Royalty and other revenue (2) 89,227$              1,047$                90,274$        

Royalty expense (3) (242)                    (74)                       (316)              

Total royalty and other revenue (2) 88,985$              973$                   89,958$        

Operating expense -                            (2,032)                 (2,032)           
Operating income 88,985$              (1,059)$               87,926$        

Percentage by category 101% -1% 100%

Twelve months ended December 31, 2019

($000s) Royalty Interest Working Interest Total

Royalty and other revenue (2) 136,826$           4,661$                141,487$      

Royalty expense (3) (320)                    (330)                    (650)              

Total royalty and other revenue (2) 136,506$           4,331$                140,837$      

Operating expense -                            (3,945)                 (3,945)           
Operating income 136,506$           386$                   136,892$      

Percentage by category 100% 0% 100%

Twelve months ended December 31, 2020
($000s) Royalty Interest Working Interest Total
Net revenue 25.31$                15.07$                25.13$                
Operating expense -                       (31.48) (0.57)                   
Operating income 25.31$                (16.41)$               24.56$                

Twelve months ended December 31, 2019
($000s) Royalty Interest Working Interest Total
Net revenue 36.56$                29.73$                36.30$                
Operating expense -                       (27.07) (1.02)                   
Operating income 36.56$                2.66$                  35.28$                

($ per boe) 2020 2019 Change
Royalty interest 25.31$               36.56$                -31%
Working interest (16.41) 2.66 -717%
Total 24.56$               35.28$                -30%
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General and Administrative Expenses 
Freehold has land administration, accounting and auditing requirements to administer and collect royalty payments, 
including systems to track development activity on its royalty lands. General and administrative (G&A) expenses include 
directly billed costs in addition to costs incurred by Rife Resources Management Ltd. (the Manager) and allocated to 
Freehold (see Related Party Transactions). 

In 2020, G&A expense totaled $10.9 million, a 9% decrease compared to $12.1 million in 2019. G&A expense declined 
from 2019 due to cost saving initiatives taken as part of efforts to mitigate the impact of weakened commodity prices 
and the associated impact on Freehold’s revenues. These initiatives included reductions in compensation to both the 
Board and employees in addition to office cost reductions. Freehold’s G&A expense includes legal costs associated with 
our objection to the CRA reassessments (see Income Tax). Capitalized and overhead recoveries increased in 2020 by 
25% compared to 2019 due to our on-going purchasing efforts resulting in the recent closing of three U.S. royalty 
acquisitions (see Subsequent Events). 

On a per boe basis, costs were down 2% year-over-year to $3.05/boe also the result of cost saving initiatives. 

 

Share-Based Compensation 
Share-based compensation expense associated with Freehold’s award and deferred share unit plans was $1.1 million in 

2020 versus $1.4 million in 2019. This decrease was due to lower Freehold share pricing and recoveries of previously 
expensed share-based compensation due to forfeitures associated with 2020 staffing level reductions. 

 

Award Plan 
Freehold’s award plan is share based and cash settled. Freehold’s award plan consists of grants of performance share 
units (PSUs) and restricted share units (RSUs) pursuant to the Freehold Award Plan (Award Plan). 

Share-based compensation expense is based on Freehold’s share price, the number of share-based awards outstanding 

at each period end, a notional adjustment for paid dividends and an estimated forfeiture rate. Compensation expense 
is recognized over the vesting period. For the PSUs there is also a performance multiplier of 0 to 2 times based upon 
50% of an absolute total shareholder return and 50% on a relative total shareholder return over a three-year period. 

During 2020 Freehold paid $0.4 million (2019 - $0.5 million) and granted 671,689 awards (2019 – 207,194) under these 
plans resulting in 686,792 outstanding awards at December 31, 2020 and March 4, 2021. The increase in the awarded 
units was due to the lower 2020 share price. 

($000s, except as noted) 2020 2019 Change
General and administrative expenses,
  before capitalized and overhead recoveries 13,061$             13,764$             -5%
Less: capitalized and overhead recoveries (2,131) (1,701) 25%
General and administrative expenses 10,930$             12,063$             -9%
   Per boe ($) 3.05$                  3.11$                  -2%

($000s, except as noted) 2020 2019 Change
Share-based and other compensation 1,071$               1,408$                -24%
   Per boe ($) 0.30 0.36 -17%
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Deferred Share Unit Plan 
Pursuant to Freehold’s deferred share unit plan, fully-vested deferred share units (DSUs) are granted annually in the 

first quarter to members of the Board of Directors and are redeemable for an equal number of Freehold common shares 
upon the member’s retirement. Dividends paid prior to redemption are reinvested on behalf of the member in 
additional DSUs. During 2020 the DSU plan was amended to allow Freehold at the time of settlement, at the discretion 
of the Board of Directors, to pay cash in lieu of issuing common shares on redemption of DSUs. Previously, the DSU plan 
only allowed for an equity settlement of such units. Freehold’s Board of Directors does not currently have a stated intent 
whether such future settlements of DSUs will be cash or equity-settled but because they have the ability to settle such 
transactions at their discretion through issuing common shares, this plan will continue to be classified as equity-settled. 

During 2020, Freehold granted a total of 66,529 DSUs to members of its Board of Directors as part of their annual 
compensation resulting in 325,633 outstanding DSUs at December 31, 2020. No shares were granted in exchange for 
DSUs during 2020 and 2019. Subsequent to December 31, 2020, Freehold’s 2021 annual DSU grant to its Board of 
Directors was issued resulting in 421,104 outstanding DSUs at March 4, 2021. 

Interest and Financing 
In 2020, interest and financing expense decreased due to lower average debt levels and interest rates. The average 
effective interest rate on advances under Freehold’s credit facilities during 2020 was 2.5% (2019 - 3.5%). During January 
2021, subscription receipt holders (see Subscription Receipts) on record at the close of business on December 31, 2020 
received an aggregate dividend equivalent cash payment totaling $0.3 million reported as an interest and financing 
charge in 2020. 

 

Depletion, Depreciation and Other 
Petroleum and natural gas interests, including acquisitions costs, future development costs (if any) and directly 
attributable general and administrative costs, are depleted on the unit-of-production method based on estimated 
proved and probable petroleum and natural gas reserves (see Critical Accounting Estimates). Reserves are 
independently evaluated at year-end. For December 31, 2020, the estimate of proved and probable petroleum and 
natural gas reserves was based on an external independent qualified reserves evaluator’s report effective December 
31, 2020. Other recoveries included in depletion, depreciation and other in 2020 totaled $1.7 million and reflect a gain on 
disposition (see Working Interest Dispositions) and government assistance for reclamations (see Decommissioning 

Liability). 

($000s, except as noted) 2020 2019 Change

Interest on long-term debt 2,903$               4,002$                -27%

Dividend equivalent payments 252                     -                      0%

Accretion of decommissioning liability 110                     211                     -48%

Accretion of lease obligation 37                       36                        3%

Other 71 -                      0%

Interest and financing expense 3,373$               4,249$                -21%
   Per boe ($) 0.94$                  1.10                    -15%
   Per boe - cash expense ($) 0.90$                  1.03 -13%
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Impairment 
At December 31, 2020, there were no indicators of impairment on Freehold’s United States and Canadian Royalty CGUs, 
its exploration and evaluation assets or impairment reversal on the Working Interest CGU. As a result, no impairment 
or impairment reversal testing was conducted. 

Freehold tested both the Working Interest and United States and Canadian Royalty CGUs carrying values as at March 
31, 2020 for impairment due to that period’s decrease in expected future commodity prices resulting from demand 
destruction caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. Freehold estimated the recoverable amount as the value in use based 
on discounted future net cash flows of proved and probable petroleum and natural gas reserves and unbooked future 
development locations using forecasted oil and gas commodity prices and costs for its Royalty and Working Interest 

CGUs discounted at pre-tax rates of 8% to 10% and 25%, respectively. 

These CGUs’ value in use estimates as at March 31, 2020 were based on Freehold’s December 31, 2019 independently 
prepared reserve report internally adjusted for forward pricing, production and estimated reserve additions resulting 
from acquisition activities and an internally prepared estimate of unbooked future development locations. This test 
identified impairment as charged against the Working Interest CGU as at March 31, 2020 of $9.6 million as its carrying 
value exceeded its estimated value in use.  This resulted in the estimated recoverable amount of the Working Interest 

CGU being measured at $nil.   

The following table summarizes forecasted oil and gas commodity price benchmarks at April 1, 2020 used in the 
determination of recoverable values as at March 31, 2020: 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, Freehold closed a royalty asset exchange, terminating a production volume 
royalty (PVR) agreement in exchange for a new gross overriding royalty on certain related properties. Management’s 
best estimate of the new gross overriding royalty’s fair value less costs to sell was $14.1 million lower than the carrying 
value of the PVR resulting in an equivalent impairment charge for the year ended December 31, 2019. This exchange 
transaction was not considered an indicator of impairment within Freehold’s Canadian Royalty CGU. There were no 

indicators of impairment as at December 31, 2019. 

($000s, except as noted) 2020 2019 Change
Depletion, depreciation and other 79,393$             94,912$             -16%
   Per boe ($) 22.18$               24.47$                -9%

WTI WCS AECO Exchange rate
US$/bbl Cdn$/bbl Cdn$/Mcf Cdn$/US$

2020  $               29.17  $               19.21  $                  1.74  $                 0.70 

2021  $               40.45  $               34.65  $                  2.20  $                 0.73 

2022  $               49.17  $               46.34  $                  2.38  $                 0.75 

2023  $               53.28  $               51.25  $                  2.45  $                 0.75 

2024  $               55.66  $               54.28  $                  2.53  $                 0.75 

2025  $               56.87  $               55.72  $                  2.60  $                 0.75 

Average annual increase, thereafter 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%                          -   
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Management Fee 
The manager (see Related Party Transactions) receives a management fee in Freehold common shares. The 
management fee was capped at 41,250 Freehold common shares per quarter in 2020 with the fee gradually decreasing 
to 5,500 shares per quarter by 2023 as per the table below: 

 

The management fee was down 64% in 2020 compared to 2019 partially due a reduction in capped Freehold common 

shares  but also due to Freehold’s share price trading lower during 2020. 

(1) The ascribed value of the management fees is based on the closing share price at the end of each quarter. 

Income Tax  
As a corporation, taxable income is based on revenues (which will vary depending on commodity prices and production 
volumes) less deductible expenses, including tax pool deductions. In 2020, income tax rates for Freehold were 
approximately 24.8% versus 26.6% in 2019 with both rates reflecting multiple tax jurisdictions. In 2019 and 2020, 
Freehold’s tax pools were lowered to reflect reductions in the Alberta provincial tax rate which reduced to 10% effective 
January 1, 2020 and then further reduced to 8% on July 1, 2020, respectively. 

In 2020 and 2019, Freehold had no current tax expense because it had sufficient tax pool deductions. In 2020, Freehold 

had a deferred tax recovery of $3.1 million because its reported expenses exceeded tax deductions. It was the inverse 
situation in 2019 resulting in a $3.3 million expense.  

CRA Reassessments 
Freehold’s corporate income tax filings for 2015, 2018, and 2019 were reassessed by the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) 
in 2020 (the Reassessments). Pursuant to the Reassessments, deductions of $92.6 million of non-capital losses (NCLs) 
by Freehold were denied, resulting in reassessed taxes, interest, and penalties totaling $29.3 million, in addition to a 
denial of $129.1 million of carried forward NCLs. Freehold has filed its objection of the Reassessments which required 
deposits totaling $14.7 million that have been provided to the CRA. 

For 2020, Freehold estimates it has sufficient other tax pool deductions to avoid a claim from its NCLs and on this basis 
it does not expect a reassessment of its 2020 Canadian corporate income tax filing. 

Freehold has received legal advice that it should be entitled to deduct the NCLs and as such, management remains of 
the opinion that all tax filings to date were filed correctly and that it expects to be successful in its objection of these 
Reassessments and therefore the payment of these deposits held by the CRA should be refunded, plus interest, and the 

denied NCLs should be reinstated.  

  

2020 2021 2022 2023
Quarterly share payment 41,250         27,500                13,750               5,500                 

2020 2019 Change
Shares issued in payment of management fees 165,000 220,000 (0.25)                   

Ascribed value ($000s) (1) 634$                   1,743$                -64%
   Per boe ($) 0.18$                  0.45$                  -60%
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Tax Pools 
Freehold is entitled to claim certain tax pool deductions available to all owners of oil and gas properties. Without 

reflecting the Reassessments, Freehold’s tax pools decreased to $775.4 million at the end 2020 (from $838.4 million at 
the end of 2019), as we claimed sufficient tax pool deductions against the $72.9 million of funds from operations after 
considering increases to our tax pools caused by 2020 investing activities. The tax pools below are deductible at various 
jurisdiction tax rates: 

 

Deferred Tax Asset 
At December 31, 2020, Freehold had a deferred income tax asset of $16.3 million (2019 - $13.1 million) resulting from 
the combined tax effected differences of tax pools in excess of the associated accounting carrying values. 

Net Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
In 2020, Freehold’s net and comprehensive loss was $13.9 million versus 2019 net and comprehensive income of $5.2 
million. These decreases were due to lower realized commodity pricing reflecting the weakness in crude oil benchmark 
pricing and lower production associated with third-party royalty drilling additions only partially offsetting natural 
declines and increased shut-in production. 

nm – not meaningful 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 
We define capital (and capitalization) as long-term debt, shareholders’ equity and working capital. We manage our 
capital structure taking into account operating activities, debt levels, debt covenants, acquisitions, dividend levels and 
taxes, among others. We also consider changes in economic conditions and commodity prices as well as the risk 
characteristics of our assets. We have a depleting asset base, and ongoing development activities and acquisitions are 
necessary to replace production and extend reserve life. From time to time, we may issue shares to manage current and 
projected debt levels or finance acquisitions. 

($000s) 2020 2019 Change
Canadian oil and gas property expense (10% declining balance) 598,892$           661,040$           -9%
Canadian development expense (30% declining balance) 15,380               21,950                -30%
Capital cost allowance (generally 25%) 5,454                  7,727                  -29%
Share issue costs -                      1,602                  -100%
Non-capital losses 134,246             129,116             4%
Foreign tax pools 21,440               16,984                0%
Total 775,412$           838,419$           -8%

($000s, except as noted) 2020 2019 Change
Net income (loss) (13,931)$            5,193$                nm
   Per share, basic and diluted ($) (0.12)$                0.04$                  nm
Comprehensive income (loss) (13,954)$            5,176$                nm
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Operating Activities 
Cash Flow from Operating Activities and Funds from Operations 
Funds from operations in 2020 decreased 38% to $72.9 million from $118.1 million in 2019 as lower oil prices and 
reduced production volumes drove the reduction year-over-year. For the same reasons, cash flow from operating 
activities also decreased 38% to $65.8 million from $105.8 million in 2019 despite the reporting year reflecting the 
payment of a $14.7 million CRA deposit (see Income Tax). 

We consider funds from operations to be a key measure of operating performance as it demonstrates Freehold's ability 
to generate necessary funds to fund capital expenditures, sustain dividends and repay debt. We believe that such a 
measure provides a useful assessment of Freehold's operations on a continuing basis by eliminating certain non-cash 
charges. Funds from operations per share is calculated based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding 
consistent with the calculation of net income (loss) per share. 

 

Working Capital 
We retain working capital (calculated as current assets less current liabilities) primarily to fund capital expenditures and 

acquisitions and/or reduce bank indebtedness. In the oil and gas industry, accounts receivable from industry partners 
are typically settled in the following month. However, due to royalty administration, payments to royalty owners are 
often delayed longer. Also, working capital can fluctuate significantly due to volume and price changes at each period 
end, unpaid capital expenditures and asset and liability reclassifications.  

Working capital at December 31, 2020 was $27.2 million, higher by $12.9 million from year-end 2019. This increase 
reflects Freehold’s payment of an income tax deposit that was required to proceed with its objection to the CRA’s 

Reassessments (see Income Tax) and prepaid subscription receipt issuance and U.S. acquisition costs. Components of 
working capital include: 

 

The equity issuance in January 2021 satisfied Freehold’s subscription receipt obligation as reported at year-end. 

Decommissioning Liability 
Freehold has no decommissioning liability on its royalty interest properties. Freehold’s decommissioning liability results 
from its responsibility to abandon and reclaim its net share of its working interest properties. During 2020, Freehold 
incurred $0.5 million on decommissioning expenditures (2019 - $2.2 million), disposed of working interest properties 

with associated discounted obligations of $3.8 million and benefited from $0.3 million in government incentives. 

($000s, except as noted) 2020 2019 Change
Cash flow from operations 65,767$             105,801$           -38%
   Per share, basic and diluted ($) 0.55$                  0.89$                  -38%
Funds from operations 72,891$             118,098$           -38%
   Per share ($) 0.61$                  1.00$                  -38%

($000s) 2020 2019 Change
Current assets 95,086$             26,093$             264%
Current liabilities (67,851)              (11,727)              479%
Working capital 27,235$             14,366$             90%

As at December 31



2020 | Annual Report | Freehold Royalties Ltd. 18

2020 | MD&A | Freehold Royalties Ltd.  18 

During 2020, Freehold benefited from a new federal government funded site rehabilitation program administered by 
the Alberta government. This program allows oil and gas operators to nominate inactive well sites or suspended 
pipelines across any stage of the abandonment and reclamation process for partial or full government funding. After 
approval but upon completion of either the abandonment or reclamation work, the provincial government directly pays 
the service provider at which time Freehold credited depletion, depreciation and other for $0.3 million as offset through 

a reduction in the decommissioning liability. 

The undiscounted value of Freehold’s total decommissioning liability is estimated to be $6.9 million (2019 – $10.4 
million). Payments to settle the obligations are expected to occur over the next 41 years, with the majority being settled 
within 10 years. At December 31, 2020, a risk-free rate of 1.2% (2019 – 1.8%) and an inflation rate of 1.5% (2019 – 1.4%) 
were used to calculate the present value of $6.9 million (2019 - $10.4 million). 

Investing Activities 
Acquisitions 
Freehold’s acquisition strategy targets individual properties or groups of properties to augment our production, reserves 
and land, with a focus on royalty interests. The key criteria are: 

o quality assets; 
o attractive returns; 
o acceptable risk profile; and 
o long economic life. 

Freehold spent a total of $3.3 million (US$2.4 million) on two closed acquisitions in 2020 for certain royalty assets 
located in North Dakota. 

Subsequent to year-end 2020, Freehold closed three transactions including an acquisition of U.S. royalty properties for 
US$58 million ($74.0 million) before customary adjustments. The acquisition included exposure to approximately 
400,000 gross drilling unit acres of mineral title and overriding royalty interest across 12 basins in eight states; 

predominantly weighted towards the Permian and Eagle Ford basins. 2021 production associated with the acquisition 
is forecast at 1,250 boe/d.  

Working Interest Dispositions 
In 2020, Freehold disposed of certain working interest properties with estimated production of 250 boe/d whereby the 
purchasers agreed to assume decommissioning liabilities of $3.8 million associated with these properties in exchange 
for Freehold paying $2.4 million. 

Financing Activities 
Long-Term Debt and Net Debt 
At 2020 year-end, Freehold had a committed $165 million secured revolving credit facility with a syndicate of four 

Canadian chartered banks. In addition, Freehold had available a $15 million senior secured operating facility. At 2020 
year-end $93 million was drawn on these facilities (2019 - $109 million).  

In May 2019 Freehold amended its credit agreement. The current maturity date of the credit facilities is May 31, 2022 
and Freehold may annually request an extension to the maturity date. The credit facilities are not reserve-based but are 
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secured with $400 million first charge demand debentures over all of Freehold’s assets. The credit agreement contains 
two financial covenants. The first financial covenant is that long-term debt to EBITDA on royalty interest properties 
(calculated as earnings on royalty interest properties before non-cash charges including, but not limited to, interest, 
taxes, depletion and depreciation and amortization) shall not exceed 3.5 times. The actual ratio was 1.2 times at 
December 31, 2020. The second financial covenant is that the long-term debt to capitalization (the aggregate of long-

term debt and shareholders’ equity) percentage shall not exceed 55%. The percentage was 12% at 2020 year-end. In 
addition, Freehold has an affirmative covenant that it must maintain a minimum of 90% of total EBITDA from royalty 
interest properties over the previous twelve-month period. The actual percentage was 100% at 2020 year-end. Freehold 
was in compliance with all covenants at 2020 year-end. In addition, Freehold forecasts to be in compliance with all 
covenants on a quarterly basis for at least the next 12 months based on Freehold’s current best estimate of results from 
operations.  As a result of significant uncertainties that exist around the economic impact of COVID-19, actual operating 
results may vary from Freehold’s current best estimate. 

Borrowings under the credit facilities bear interest at the bank’s prime lending rate, bankers’ acceptance or LIBOR rates 
plus applicable margins and standby fees, dependent on Freehold’s long-term debt to EBITDA on royalty interest 
properties (see Financing and Interest). 

At 2020 and 2019 year-ends, the fair values of the long-term debt approximated its carrying values, as the long-term 

debt carries interest at prevailing market rates. In 2020 net debt decreased by 31% to $65.8 million at year-end from 
$94.6 million at year-end 2019. This reduction was due to funds from operations exceeding acquisition/disposition 
activities and declared dividends. 

Freehold’s 2020 net debt to funds from operations ratio was 0.9 times (2019 – 0.8 times) and well within our debt 
strategy target of below 1.5 times. This ratio is a financial leverage measure that reflects cash available to pay back our 

debts. It represents the number of years it would take Freehold to reduce its net debt to zero if funds from operations 
was held constant and there were no other cash outflow obligations required such as dividends and acquisitions, among 
others. Freehold’s long-term debt of $93 million decreased by 15% year-over-year, primarily due to funds from 
operations exceeding dividend commitments and acquisition activity. On March 4, 2021, our drawn debt was $101.5 
million, an increase from 2020 year-end reflecting our 2021 acquisitions of U.S. royalty properties. 

Freehold defines capital (and capitalization) as net debt plus shareholders’ equity. The net debt to capitalization ratio is 

a financial leverage measure that shows the portion of capital relating to debt. Freehold’s ratio in 2020 of 9% (2019 – 
12%) reflects its low debt levels and resulting low financial risk. 

Debt Analysis 

 

($000s) 2020 2019 Change
Long-term debt 93,000$             109,000$           -15%
Short-term debt (operating line) -                      -                      -                      
Total debt 93,000$             109,000$           -15%
Working capital (27,235) (14,366) 90%
Net debt 65,765$             94,634$             -31%

As at December 31
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Financial Leverage Ratios 

 

Shareholders’ Capital 
At December 31, 2020 and March 4, 2021 there were 118,787,667 and 131,435,334 shares outstanding respectively. 
During 2020, Freehold issued 165,000 shares (2019–220,000) for payment of the management fee (see Related Party 
Transactions). During 2020 and 2019 there were no shares issued for the redemption of DSUs (see Share Based 
Compensation). 

On December 5, 2020, Freehold issued 12,647,667 subscription receipts at a price of $4.80 per receipt for gross proceeds 
of $60.7 million through a public offering pursuant to Freehold’s short form prospectus and a concurrent private 

placement (see Subscription Receipts). The subscription receipts were exchanged in January 2021 for an equivalent 
number of Freehold’s shares. At year-end, there was the possibility of refunding the subscription receipt proceeds back 
to the holders, therefore these proceeds, as then held in escrow, were also reported as an obligation at 2020 year-end. 
Shareholders’ capital inclusive of the subscription receipt exchange for an equivalent number of shares net of issuance 
costs was $1,331 million. 

Shareholders’ Capital 

 

Shares Outstanding 

 

Dividend Policy and Analysis 
The Board reviews and determines the monthly dividend rate on a quarterly basis, or as conditions necessitate, after 
considering expected commodity prices, foreign exchange rates, economic conditions, production volumes, tax payable, 
and our capacity to finance operating and investing obligations. The dividend rate is established with the intent of 
absorbing short-term market volatility over several months. It also recognizes our intention to fund capital expenditures 
primarily through funds from operations and to maintain a strong balance sheet to take advantage of acquisition 
opportunities and withstand potential commodity price declines.  

2020 2019 Change
Net debt to trailing funds from operations (times) 0.9 0.8 13%
Net debt to net debt plus shareholders' equity (%) 9 12 -3%

As at December 31

Shares Amount Shares Amount 
($000s) ($000s)

Balance, beginning of year 118,622,667     1,271,763$       118,402,667     1,270,020$       
Issued for payment of management fee 165,000             634                     220,000             1,743                  
Balance, end of year 118,787,667     1,272,397$       118,622,667     1,271,763$       

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

2020 2019
Weighted average
   Basic 118,685,218 118,486,297 
   Diluted 118,685,218 118,713,229 
At December 31 118,787,667 118,622,667 

As at December 31
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The payment of dividends by a corporation is governed by the liquidity and insolvency tests described in the Business 
Corporations Act (Alberta) (ABCA). Pursuant to the ABCA, after the payment of a dividend, we must be able to pay our 
liabilities as they become due and the realizable value of our assets must be greater than our liabilities and the legal 
stated capital of our outstanding securities. As at December 31, 2020, our legal stated capital was $126 million. 

2020 Dividends Declared 

 

Dividends declared in 2020 totaled $35.3 million ($0.30 per share), down from $74.7 million ($0.63 per share) in 2019. 
Freehold paid dividends of $39.2 million ($0.33 per share) in 2020, also down from $74.7 million paid in 2019 ($0.63 per 

share). 

On January 14, 2021, the Board of Directors declared a dividend of $0.02 per common share or $2.6 million paid on 
February 16, 2021 to common shareholders on record on January 31, 2021.  On February 11, 2021, the Board of Directors 
declared a dividend of $0.02 per common share or $2.6 million paid on March 15, 2021 to common shareholders on 
record on February 28 , 2021. On March 4, 2021, Freehold’s Board of Directors declared a dividend of $0.03 per common 

share or $0.36 per common share annually to be paid on April 15, 2021 to common shareholders on record on March 
31, 2021. 

From inception in 1996 through to December 31, 2020, Freehold has distributed $1.7 billion ($32.60 per share) to our 
shareholders. Freehold’s dividends are designated as eligible dividends for Canadian income tax purposes. 

Accumulated Dividends (1) 

 

(1) Accumulated dividends reflect distributions paid on trust units of Freehold Royalty Trust (the predecessor of Freehold) from 1996 through 2010 and dividends 
paid on common shares of Freehold from 2011 onwards. 

(2) Based on the number of shares issued and outstanding at each record date. 

Dividend Amount
Record Date Payment Date ($ per share)
January 31, 2020 February 18, 2020  $             0.0525 
February 29, 2020 March 16, 2020                 0.0525 
March 31, 2020 April 15, 2020                 0.0525 
April 30, 2020 May 15, 2020                 0.0150 
May 31, 2020 June 15, 2020                 0.0150 
June 30, 2020 July 15, 2020                 0.0150 
July 31, 2020 August 17, 2020                 0.0150 
August 31, 2020 September 15, 2020                 0.0150 
September 30, 2020 October 15, 2020                 0.0150 
October 31, 2020 November 16, 2020                 0.0150 
November 30, 2020 December 15, 2020                 0.0150 
December 31, 2020 January 15, 2021                 0.0200 
Total  $             0.2975 

2020 2019 Change
Dividends declared ($000s) 35,306$             74,663$             -53%
   Accumulated, beginning of year 1,702,543 1,627,880 5%
   Accumulated, end of year 1,737,849$       1,702,543$        2%

Dividends per share ($) (2) 0.2975$             0.6300$             -53%
   Accumulated, beginning of year 32.3050 31.6750 2%
   Accumulated, end of year 32.6025$           32.3050$           1%



2020 | Annual Report | Freehold Royalties Ltd. 22

2020 | MD&A | Freehold Royalties Ltd.  22 

The following tables reconciles funds from operations to dividends declared. In 2020 Freehold's payout ratio was 54% 
exhibiting that dividend payments are being made within our means, with excess free cash flow (see Non-GAAP Financial 
Measures) being used to repay debt and fund acquisitions. 

Reconciliation of Funds from Operations to Dividends Declared 

 

Dividends Analysis 

 

nm – not meaningful 
(1) Based on the dividend payment date which is generally on the 15th day of the month following the month it was declared.  
(2) Dividends paid as a percentage of funds from operations (see Non-GAAP Financial Measures). 
 

Payout ratios, which are considered non-GAAP financial measures, are often used for dividend paying companies in the 
oil and gas industry to identify dividend levels in relation to the funds a company receives and uses in its capital and 
operational activities. Freehold’s payout ratio is calculated as dividends paid as a percentage of funds from operations. 

Freehold’s payout ratio for 2020 was 54%, below the lower end of our guided dividend payout range of 60%-80% of 
annualized funds flow, and a decrease versus 63% in 2019. Freehold initially reduced its monthly dividend in Q2-2020, 
reflecting the COVID-19 pandemic and the significant demand destruction for oil resulting in volatile commodity pricing 

and uncertainty regarding the timing for recovery. Commodity prices and production volumes on our royalty lands has 
since improved with funds from operations outperforming expectations. With improved momentum in commodity 
prices and other macroeconomic factors in North America, Freehold has approved increasing its monthly dividend from 
$0.02 to $0.03 per share or $0.36 per share on an annualized basis. 

Related Party Transactions 
Freehold does not have any employees as Rife Resources Management Ltd. is the manager (the Manager) of Freehold 
pursuant to an amended and restated management agreement (the Management Agreement). The Manager is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Rife Resources Ltd. (Rife). Rife is 100% owned by the CN Pension Trust Funds (the pension funds 
for the employees of the Canadian National Railway Company), whereby both Rife and the CN Pension Trust Funds are 
shareholders of Freehold. Combined they have a 22% ownership in Freehold at December 31, 2020. Canpar Holdings 
Ltd. (Canpar) is also managed by the Manager and owned 100% by the CN Pension Trust Funds. Two of Rife and Canpar's 
directors are also directors of Freehold. 

($000s) 2020 2019 Change
Funds from operations 72,891$             118,098$           -38%
Debt drawing (repayment) (16,000)              19,000                nm
Acquisitions (7,058)                (49,689)              -86%
Working interest dispositions (2,338)                (126)                    1756%
Working capital change (12,189)              (12,620)              -3%
Dividends declared 35,306$             74,663$             -53%

($000s) 2020 2019 Change

Total dividends paid (1) 39,158$             74,663$             -48%
Dividends declared 35,306$             74,663$             -53%
Funds from operations 72,891$             118,098$           -38%

Basic payout ratio (2) 54% 63% -9%
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All amounts owing to/from the Manager, Rife, and Canpar are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand. All 
transactions were in the normal course of operations and were measured at the amount of consideration established 
and agreed to by the parties. 

Rife Resources Management Ltd. 
The Manager provides certain services for a fee based on a specified number of Freehold common shares issued on a 
quarterly basis, pursuant to the Management Agreement that capped the management fee at 41,250 shares per quarter 
for 2020. This resulted in Freehold issuing 165,000 common shares during 2020 versus 220,000 in 2019 as payment of 
the management fee to the Manager. The respective ascribed values of $0.6 million and $1.7 million were based on the 
closing price of the Freehold’s common shares on the last trading day of each quarter. Effective January 1, 2021, the 
Management Agreement will limit the management fee at 27,500 shares per quarter for 2021. 

During 2020 the Manager charged $11.0 million in general and administrative costs versus $10.0 million in 2019. At 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, there was $0.7 million in accounts payable and accrued liabilities relating to these costs.  

Rife Resources Ltd. and CN Pension Trust Funds 
During the year ended December 31, 2020, Rife acquired 2,791,667 subscription receipts at $4.80 per receipt through a 
private placement that closed concurrently with Freehold’s public offering of subscription receipts pursuant to its 
December 2020 short form prospectus (see Subscription Receipts). No commission was paid in respect of the 

subscription receipts purchased by Rife pursuant to the private placement. This price per subscription receipt paid by 
Rife was equivalent to the public offering price. The total proceeds from this private placement were $13.4 million 
reflecting a portion of Freehold’s reported subscription receipt payable and restricted cash positions at December 31, 
2020. During January 2021 and per the same terms as the public offering, upon Freehold’s acquisition of U.S. based 
royalty properties, the private placement subscription receipts were exchanged for an equivalent number of Freehold’s 
common shares. 

During 2020, Freehold paid $1.8 million and $0.1 million versus $3.8 million and $nil in 2019 for dividends and dividend 
equivalent payments, respectively, to Rife and/or the CN Pension Trust Funds for their combined 22% ownership in 
Freehold’s common shares. The aforementioned no commission private placement also represented 22% of the total 
issued subscription receipts, and upon exchange on January 5, 2021 for the equivalent number of common shares in 
Freehold, did not result in a change in the combined ownership percentage of Rife and the CN Pension Trust Funds in 
Freehold. 

In addition, Freehold receives royalties from Rife pursuant to various royalty agreements. For the year ended December 
31, 2020, Freehold received royalties of approximately $0.3 million (2019 – $0.7 million). At December 31, 2020, there 
was $nil (2019 - $0.1 million) in accounts receivable relating to these transactions. These transactions were measured 
at the exchange amount of consideration established and agreed upon by both parties. 

Canpar Holdings Ltd. 
Freehold and Canpar share mineral title ownership in a substantial land base in western Canada. Generally, Canpar owns 

mineral rights that were below the deepest producing formation at the time that Freehold was created, and Freehold 
holds the balance of the mineral rights. Where Freehold is not the legal registered owner of such mineral rights, Canpar 
holds these rights in trust for Freehold and receives the royalty payments in respect of such mineral rights on behalf of 
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Freehold. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, there was $nil (2019 - $nil) in accounts receivable and accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities relating to transactions with Canpar. 

Key Management Personnel Compensation 
Expenses relating to compensation for key management personnel, considered to be the members of the Board and 

executive officers, are as follows: 

 
In December 2020, the Board of Directors approved an amendment to the DSU plan to permit each non-management 
Board member to elect on an annual basis to receive the equivalent fair value of DSUs in lieu of all or a portion of his or 
her annual remuneration. 

Select Annual Information 

 
(1) Based on the number of shares issued and outstanding at each record date. 
 

  

($000s) 2020 2019
Salaries, fees and benefits 1,971$                1,803$               
Share-based compensation 761                     899                     
Key management compensation 2,732$                2,702$               

2020 2019 2018
Financial ($000s, except as noted)
Royalty and other revenue 89,958$             140,837$           144,542$           
Net income (loss) (13,931)$            5,193$                14,032$             
   Per share, basic and diluted ($) (0.12)$                0.04$                  0.12$                  
Dividends declared 35,306$             74,663$             73,928$             

   Per share ($) (1) 0.2975$             0.6300$             0.6250$             
Total assets ($) 829,909$           839,893$           888,299$           
Long term debt 93,000$             109,000$           90,000$             
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Select Quarterly Information 

 
(1) Based on the number of shares issued and outstanding at each record date.  
(2) See Non-GAAP Financial Measures. 
(3) Reported production for a period may include adjustments from previous production periods. 
(4) Excludes share based compensation. 

  

Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Financ ial  ($000s, except as noted)

Royalty and other revenue 25,793 23,123 14,758 26,284 36,827 33,068 35,333 35,609 

Funds from operations 22,129 19,893 10,622 20,248 30,659 27,996 30,095 29,348 

   Per share, basic ($) 0.19 0.17 0.09 0.17 0.26 0.24 0.25 0.25 

Net income (loss) 373 139 (5,421) (9,022) 6,113 2,729 3,430 (7,079)

   Per share, basic and diluted ($) -             -                  (0.05) (0.08) 0.05 0.02 0.03 (0.06)

Dividends declared 5,938 5,342 5,341 18,685 18,683 18,669 18,660 18,651 

   Per share ($) (1) 0.0500 0.0450 0.0450 0.1575 0.1575 0.1575 0.1575 0.1575 

Payout ratio (%) (2) 24              27                   92                  92                  61                  67                  62             64             

Operating Income (2) 25,509 22,877 14,244 25,296 35,758 32,175 34,315 34,644 

   Operating income from royalties (%) 99              100                 103               100               100               100               100           99             

Acquisitions and related expenditures 222            485                 981               5,370            2,727            15,060          30,313     929           

Working interest dispositions paid (received) (36)            7                      2,294            (73)                36                  8                    52             (30)            

Long term debt 93,000 107,000 102,000 103,000 109,000 116,000 111,000 90,000 

Shares  ou ts tanding

   Weighted average, basic (000s) 118,747 118,706 118,664 118,623 118,568 118,513 118,458 118,403 

   At quarter end (000s) 118,788 118,746 118,705 118,664 118,623 118,568 118,513 118,458 

Operat ing ($/boe, except as noted) 

Royalty production (boe/d) (3) 9,563 9,096 9,150 10,618 10,315 10,149 10,311 10,139 

      Light and medium oil (bbls/d) 3,239 3,383 3,313 3,863 4,024 3,771 3,727 3,734 

      Heavy oil (bbls/d) 1,173 791 872 1,238 1,089 1,148 983 911 

      NGL (bbls/d) 813 848 772 872 799 740 962 912 

Total liquids (bbls/d) 5,225 5,022 4,957 5,973 5,912 5,659 5,672 5,557 

      Natural gas (Mcf/d) 26,027 24,446 25,156 27,870 26,416 26,938 27,834 27,492 

Total production (boe/d) (3) 9,681 9,143 9,285 11,026 10,740 10,482 10,664 10,627 

  Royalty interest (%) 99 99 99 96 96 97 97 95 

Average selling price 28.16 26.93 17.08 25.69 37.04 33.87 35.88 36.29 

Operating netback (2) 28.64 27.20 16.86 25.22 36.19 33.36 35.36 36.22 

Operating expenses 0.32 0.29 0.61 0.98 1.08 0.93 1.05 1.01 

General and administrative expenses (4) 2.74 2.71 2.92 3.73 2.97 2.59 2.67 4.22 

Benchmark Prices

West Texas Intermediate crude oil (US$/bbl) 42.47 40.91 27.81 45.65 56.99 56.36 59.79 54.82 

Exchange rate (Cdn$/US$) 0.77 0.75 0.72 0.74 0.76 0.76 0.75 0.75 

Edmonton Light Sweet crude oil (Cdn$/bbl) 50.45 49.81 29.79 51.77 68.12 70.27 73.84 66.02 

Western Canadian Select crude oil (Cdn$/bbl) 43.56 42.55 22.37 34.02 54.16 58.12 65.66 56.77 

AECO monthly contract natural gas (Cdn$/Mcf) 2.76 2.14 1.85 2.13 2.34 1.04 1.17 1.94 

20192020
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Business Risks and Mitigating Strategies  
Our operations are subject to some of the same industry risks and conditions faced by oil and gas companies. The most 
significant of these include the following: 

• fluctuations in commodity prices and quality differentials as a result of weather patterns, world and North American 

market forces or shifts in the balance between supply and demand for crude oil and gas; 

• the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on demand and commodity prices; 

• climate change and ESG concerns reducing the demand for crude oil and gas; 

• access to pipelines or other transportation methods for bringing oil and natural gas to market; 

• variations in currency exchange rates; 

• imprecision of reserve estimates and uncertainty of depletion and recoverability of reserves. Our reserves will 
deplete over time through continued production and we and our industry partners and royalty payors may not be 

able to replace these reserves on an economic basis; 

• reliance on royalty payors to drill and produce on our lands and their ability to pay their obligations; 

• industry activity levels and intense competition for land, goods and services, and qualified personnel; 

• stock market volatility and the ability to access sufficient capital from internal and external sources; 

• risk associated with volatility in global financial markets; 

• risk associated with the renegotiation of our credit facility; 

• operational or marketing risks resulting in delivery interruptions, delays or unanticipated production declines; 

• changes in government regulations, taxation, and royalties; and 

• safety and environmental risks. 
 

For a more detailed description of risk factors, please see our Annual Information Form, filed on SEDAR. 

We employ the following strategies to mitigate these risks: 

• Our diversified revenue stream limits the size of any one property with respect to our total assets. 

• We are not liable for abandonment and reclamation costs on our royalty lands. 

• Due to our high percentage of royalty lands, we have one of the lowest all-in cost structures of our peer group. In 
addition, we maintain a focus on controlling direct costs to maximize profitability. 

• We negotiate agreements that provide mechanisms to ensure that our interests are protected. 

• Systems and processes are in place to identify any unpaid or incorrect revenues. 

• We maintain a dedicated compliance function, with a comprehensive auditing program, to ensure that the terms 

of the various agreements are followed. During 2020, our audit staff issued audit exception queries amounting to 
$2.3 million, bringing the total amount of audit exception queries since 1997 to $97.9 million, of which we have 
successfully recovered $79.0 million. 

• We adhere to strict investment criteria for acquisitions, seeking quality royalty properties that have attractive 
returns, acceptable risk profiles and long economic lives. 

• We market our products to a diverse range of buyers or with our diverse range of royalty payors. Currently, we do 

not have any commodity price, exchange rate, or interest rate hedging programs in place. 

• We employ a qualified Manager that has many years of experience and knowledge in managing our assets. 
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• We maintain levels of liability insurance that meet or exceed industry standards. 

• We employ a conservative approach to debt management. As circumstances warrant, we allocate a portion of funds 

from operations to debt repayment. 

• Strong balance sheet – focus on acquisitions with economics with strong characteristics – ESG friendly business 
model – low carbon footprint. 

Environmental Regulation and Risk 
The Canadian crude oil and natural gas industry is currently subject to environmental regulation under a variety of 
Canadian federal, provincial, territorial and municipal laws and regulations, all of which are subject to governmental 

review and revision from time to time. These regulations are some of the most stringent and progressive in the world. 
Such regulations provide for, among other things, restrictions and prohibitions on the spill, release or emission of various 
substances produced in association with certain crude oil and natural gas industry operations, including the 
abandonment and reclamation of well, facility and pipeline sites. Further to these specific, known requirements, future 
changes to environmental legislation, including legislation for air pollution and greenhouse gas emissions, may impose 
further requirements on operators and other companies in the crude oil and natural gas industry.  

Climate change and ESG policies are evolving at regional, national and international levels, and political and economic 
events may significantly affect the scope and timing of climate measures that are ultimately put in place. Climate change 
concerns globally may also impact the demand for crude oil and gas. Additional specific risk factors related to the 
environment and climate change are included in Freehold’s Annual Information Form.  

Controls and Accounting Matters 
In compliance with National Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings (NI 52-
109), Freehold has filed certificates signed by our Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) that, 
among other things, deal with the matter of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial 

reporting. While we believe that our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting 
provide a reasonable level of assurance, we do not expect that the controls will prevent all errors and fraud. A control 
system, no matter how well conceived or operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the 
objective of the control system is met. 

Disclosure Controls 
As of December 31, 2020, an internal evaluation was carried out of the effectiveness of Freehold’s disclosure controls 
and procedures. This evaluation was performed under the supervision of, and with the participation of the CEO and the 

CFO. It took into consideration Freehold’s Disclosure, Insider Trading, Code of Business Conduct and Conflict of Interest, 
and Whistleblower policies, as well as the functioning of the Manager, the officers, the Board and Board Committees. 
In addition, the evaluation covered the processes, systems and capabilities relating to regulatory filings, public 
disclosures, and the identification and communication of material information. Based on this evaluation, management has 
concluded that Freehold’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as at December 31, 2020, in ensuring that 
material information is made known to management in a timely manner, particularly during the period in which the 
annual filings were being prepared, and information required to be disclosed by Freehold in its annual filings, interim 
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filings or other reports filed or submitted by Freehold under securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized 
and reported within the time periods specified in securities legislation. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
Our CEO and CFO are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal control over financial reporting (ICFR). They 

have caused ICFR to be designed under their supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian GAAP. The control 
framework used to design ICFR is the Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013 COSO Framework) published by 
The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 

Under the supervision of the CEO and CFO, Freehold conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of its ICFR as at 

December 31, 2020, as structured within the 2013 COSO Framework. Based on this evaluation, the CEO and CFO 
concluded that, as of December 31, 2020, that ICFR was effective. Our ICFR provides reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
Canadian GAAP. There were no changes in our ICFR during the period beginning on October 1, 2020 and ended on 
December 31, 2020 that materially affected Freehold’s ICFR. 

New Accounting Standard Amendments 
On January 1, 2020, Freehold adopted the amendments to the definition of a business in IFRS 3 Business Combinations.  

The amendments are intended to provide additional guidance to determine if a transaction should be recorded as a 
business combination or an asset acquisition. The amendments clarify the minimum requirements for a business, 
remove the assessment of whether market participants are capable of replacing any missing elements, add guidance to 
help entities assess if an acquired process is substantive, narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs, and 
introduce an optional fair value concentration test.  This standard was applied prospectively.  No business combinations 
were completed for the year ended December 31, 2020. 

Use of Estimates and Judgment 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities and 
the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ as a result of 
using estimates. 

Petroleum and Natural Gas Reserves 
The amounts recorded for the depletion of petroleum and natural gas interests, the provision for decommissioning 
liability, business combinations, indicators of impairment or impairment reversal and the amounts used in an 
impairment calculation are based on estimates of proved and probable petroleum and natural gas reserves. By their 
nature, these estimates of proved and probable petroleum and natural gas reserves and the related cash flows are 
subject to uncertainty including significant assumptions related to forecasted royalty production from proved and 
probable petroleum and natural gas reserves and forecasted oil and gas commodity prices and the impact on the 

financial statements of future periods could be material. Freehold’s proved and probable petroleum and natural gas 
reserves have been prepared at December 31, 2020 by the Company’s external independent qualified reserves 
evaluator. Significant management judgment is required to analyze internal and external indicators of impairment for 
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petroleum and natural gas interests and exploration and evaluation assets with the estimate of proved and probable 
petroleum and natural gas reserves and the related cash flows being significant to the assessment. 

Unbooked future development locations 
Unbooked future development locations on royalty lands and the associated future cash flows can also be used in an 
impairment calculation. These unbooked future development locations are determined from a historical analysis of 
booking previously undeveloped reserves into the independently prepared reserve report. By their nature, this estimate 
and future cash flows are subject to uncertainty including significant assumptions related to future royalty production 

and forecasted oil and gas commodity prices and timing of third-party development. 

Decommissioning liability 
The decommissioning liability amounts recorded are based on estimates of inflation rates, risk-free rates, timing of 

abandonments and future abandonment and reclamation costs, all of which are subject to uncertainty. 

Share-based compensation 
The recorded amounts for share-based compensation include an estimate of forfeitures and certain management 
assumptions. Actual results could differ as a result of using an estimate and assumptions. 

Income taxes 
Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are recognized for the estimated tax consequences attributable to differences 
between the amounts reported in the financial statements and their respective tax bases, using enacted or substantively 
enacted income tax rates. The effect of a change in income tax rates on deferred income tax liabilities and assets is 
recognized in income in the period that the change occurs. The actual amount of income tax may be greater than or less 
than the estimates and the differences may be material. Management reviews the adequacy of these amounts at the 
end of the reporting period. However, it is possible that at some future date there is a change in the income tax liability 
or asset resulting from audits by taxing authorities. Where the probable outcome of these tax related matters is different 
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will affect the income tax provisions in the period in 

which such determination is made. 

Cash generating units 
The determination of a cash generating unit (CGU) is subject to management judgment. The recoverability of petroleum 

and natural gas interests and exploration and evaluation assets are assessed at the CGU level. A CGU is the lowest level 
at which there are identifiable cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other CGUs. 

Business combination 
Each acquisition transaction is reviewed by management and judgment is used when determining if the transaction met 
the IFRS 3 inputs and processes criteria for business combinations. 

Petroleum and natural gas royalty revenue accruals 
Freehold follows the accrual method of accounting, making estimates in its financial and operating results. This may 
include estimates of revenues, which are based on significant assumptions related to royalty production and realized 
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commodity pricing for the period being reported, for which actual results have not yet been received. It is expected that 
these accrual estimates will be revised, upwards or downwards, based on the receipt of actual results. Freehold has no 
operational control over its royalty lands and primarily holds small interests in several thousand wells. Thus, obtaining 
timely production data from the well operators is extremely difficult. As a result, the Company uses both historical 
production information, new wells on stream and publicly available production data pursuant to the terms of the 

Company’s leases and royalty agreements to determine royalty production. Realized commodity prices are based on 
publicly available price benchmarks, adjusted for quality, location, allowable deductions, or other factors pursuant to 
the terms of the Company’s leases and royalty agreements. These royalty revenue accrual estimates are revised based 
on actual royalty production volumes and realized commodity prices received in subsequent periods. The royalty 
revenue accrual is necessary due to the delay between the timing of oil and gas production and when the Company 
receives its royalty production and payment, which is typically a time lag of approximately two to three months. 

Judgment is required to determine the interests of royalty properties in areas where mineral rights are shared with a 
related party, Canpar Holdings Ltd. (Canpar). Freehold uses publicly available information on geological formations to 
apportion revenues between the entities in accordance with the respective party’s interests. As new geological 
information becomes available and as part of its ongoing internal audit activities, Freehold periodically revises these 
allocations and consideration is transferred to reflect the changes. 

Significant Accounting Policies 
The most significant of Freehold’s accounting policies are as follows: 

Exploration and evaluation assets 
Exploration and evaluation (E&E) costs are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 6, Exploration for and Evaluation of 

Mineral Resources. All E&E costs incurred after acquiring the “right to explore” are capitalized into a single cost pool. 
Upon determination of the technical feasibility and commercial viability of reserves, the associated E&E costs are first 
assessed for impairment and then the estimated recoverable amount is transferred to petroleum and natural gas 
interests. All costs incurred prior to acquiring the “right to explore” are expensed as incurred. At each reporting date, 
E&E costs are reviewed for indicators of impairment using internal and external market and industry data. If 
circumstances indicate the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the cost is written down to its recoverable 
amount and the difference is accounted for as an impairment expense. No depletion or depreciation is charged to E&E. 

Impairment and impairment reversals 
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that any CGU within petroleum and natural 
gas interests may be impaired. Significant management judgment is required to analyze internal and external indicators 
of impairment with the estimate of proved and probable petroleum and natural gas reserves. In some instances, there 

is also the potential for inclusion of unbooked future development locations on royalty lands and the related cash flows 
being significant to the assessment. If any such indication of impairment exists, Freehold makes an estimate of its 
recoverable amount. A CGU’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal (FVLCTD) and its 
value in use (VIU). Where the carrying amount of a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the CGU is considered impaired 
and is written down. In assessing VIU, the estimated future cash flows are adjusted for the risks specific to the CGU and 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money. FVLCTD is the amount obtainable from the sale of assets in an arm’s length transaction less cost of disposal. 
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An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognized 
impairment losses may no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. 
A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the CGU’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case, the carrying amount of 
the CGU is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would 

have been determined, net of depletion, had no impairment loss been recognized for the CGU in prior periods. Such a 
reversal is recognized in profit or loss. After such a reversal, the depletion charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate 
the CGU’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

Revenue recognition 
Royalty and other revenue is made up of royalty, working interest and other revenue earned during the period. The vast 
majority of royalty and other revenue represents the sale of crude oil, natural gas, natural gas liquids and other products. 
It was determined that Freehold has two different types of revenue streams coming from the sale of these products:  
royalty revenue and working interest revenue. The Company earns royalty revenue from the sale of crude oil, natural 
gas, natural gas liquids and other products that is recognized as it accrues in accordance with the terms of the leases 
and royalty agreements, which is generally in the month when the oil and gas is produced. The royalty revenue accrual 

is necessary due to the delay between the timing of oil and gas production and when the Company receives its royalty 
production and payment, which is typically a time lag of approximately two to three months. 

Royalty and other revenue also includes bonus consideration and lease rentals which have different performance 
obligations. When a new mineral lease is executed, Freehold gives the third-party exclusive access to specifically 
identified lands for a certain time period and typically receives a lump sum non-refundable payment (bonus 
consideration). As the payment is non-refundable and access to land is granted, the performance obligation is met, and 

revenue is recognized when the lease is executed. Lease rental revenue is recognized annually on the anniversary date 
of the lease execution when the payment is due and received.  

Royalty and other revenue is measured at fair value of the consideration received or receivable per the terms of the 
various agreements. Freehold estimates royalty production based on historical production information, new wells on 
stream and publicly available production data and estimates realized commodity prices based on publicly available price 

benchmarks, adjusted for quality, location, allowable deductions, or other factors pursuant to the terms of the 
Company’s leases and royalty agreements. Actual results could differ as a result of using estimates and any differences 
are recorded in the period in which actuals are received. 

Forward-Looking Statements 
Certain statements contained in this MD&A constitute forward-looking statements. These statements relate to future 
events or our expectations of future performance. All statements other than statements of historical fact may be 
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are often, but not always, identified by the use of words such 
as "seek", "anticipate", "plan", "continue", "estimate", "expect", "may", "will", "forecast", "project", "predict", 
"potential", "targeting", "intend", "could", "might", "should", "believe" and similar expressions (including the negatives 

thereof). These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual 
results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements. We believe the 
expectations reflected in those forward-looking statements are reasonable but no assurance can be given that these 
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expectations will prove to be correct and, as such, forward-looking statements included in this MD&A should not be 
unduly relied upon. These forward-looking statements are provided to allow readers to better understand our business 
and prospects. 

In particular, this MD&A contains forward-looking statements under the headings Freehold’s Strategy, Outlook, 2021 
Guidance, Subsequent Events, Operating and Financial Highlights, Drilling Activity, CRA Reassessments and Liquidity and 
Capital Resources pertaining to the following: 

• our expectation of generating lower risk returns to our shareholders by driving oil and gas development on our 
lands through our lease program, acquiring royalty assets with acceptable risk profiles and long economic life 
and generating gross overriding royalties for revenue growth.; 

• our intent to maintain balance sheet strength (1.5 times or less net debt to funds from operations) and achieve 
a payout ratio of between 60%-80%; 

• our outlook for commodity prices including supply and demand factors relating to crude oil, heavy oil and 
natural gas; 

• light/heavy oil price differentials; 

• forecast of additional wells drilled in 2021; 
• 2021 guidance including average royalty production (including commodity weighting) and commodity prices; 
• our expectation of seeing meaningful, high quality, acquisition opportunities across North America; 
• our expectation of strong third-party drilling and production additions within our Canadian and U.S. portfolios 

in 2021; 
• our expectation that the acquisition of U.S royalty production and royalty lands will further diversify our royalty 

lands, bringing added sustainability to our portfolio and dividend; 
• our expectation that we will be successful in our objection of the Reassessments and the payment of the 

deposits held by the CRA will be refunded, plus interest, and the denied NCLs will be reinstated; 
• 2021 forecast production associated with our U.S. royalty asset acquisition that closed in 2021; 
• our forecast to be in compliance with all covenants under our credit facilities on a quarterly basis for at least 

the next 12 months based on Freehold’s current best estimate of results from operations; 
• our dividend policy and expectations for future dividends; and 
• treatment under governmental regulatory regimes and tax laws. 

Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements because of many 
factors, the most significant of which are as follows: 

• volatility in market prices for crude oil, NGL and natural gas; 

• the continuing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on demand and commodity prices; 

• future capital expenditure levels; 

• future production levels; 

• future exchange rates; 

• future tax rates; 

• future legislation; 

• the cost of developing and expanding our assets; 

• our ability and the ability of our industry partners and royalty payors to obtain equipment in a timely manner 
to carry out development activities; 
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• our ability to market our product successfully to current and new customers; 

• our expectation for the consumption of crude oil, NGL and natural gas; 

• our expectation for industry drilling levels on our royalty lands; 

• the impact of competition; 

• our ability to obtain financing on acceptable terms;  

• our ability to add production and reserves through our development and acquisitions activities.  

• lack of pipeline capacity; 

• currency fluctuations; 

• changes in income tax laws or changes in tax laws, regulations, royalties, or incentive programs relating to the 
oil and gas industry;  

• reliance on royalty payors to drill and produce on our lands and their ability to pay their obligations; 

• uncertainties or imprecision associated with estimating oil and gas reserves; 

• stock market volatility and our ability to access sufficient capital from internal and external sources; 

• a significant or prolonged downturn in general economic conditions or industry activity; 

• incorrect assessments of the value of acquisitions; 

• competition for, among other things, capital, acquisitions of reserves, undeveloped lands and skilled personnel; 

• geological, technical, drilling, and processing problems; 

• environmental risks and liabilities inherent in oil and gas operations; and 

• other factors discussed in Freehold's annual MD&A and audited financial statements for the year-ended 
December 31, 2020 and our Annual Information Form. 

Key operating assumptions with respect to the forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are provided in the 
Outlook section and elsewhere in this MD&A. In addition, with respect to forward-looking statements contained in this 
MD&A, we have made assumptions regarding, among other things, future commodity prices, future capital expenditure 

levels, future production levels, future exchange rates, future tax rates, future legislation, the cost of developing and 
producing our assets, our ability and the ability of our lessees to obtain equipment in a timely manner to carry out 
development activities, our ability to market our oil and gas successfully to current and new customers, our expectation 
for the consumption of crude oil and natural gas, our expectation for industry drilling levels, our ability to obtain 
financing on acceptable terms, shut-in production, production additions from our audit function and our ability to add 
production and reserves through development and acquisition activities and elsewhere in this MD&A. 

To the extent any guidance or forward-looking statements herein constitutes a financial outlook, they are included 
herein to provide readers with an understanding of management's plans and assumptions for budgeting purposes and 
readers are cautioned that the information may not be appropriate for other purposes. You are further cautioned that 
the preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make certain judgments and 
estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses. These estimates may change, 
having either a positive or negative effect on net income, as further information becomes available and as the economic 
environment changes.  

The forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are expressly qualified by this cautionary statement and speak 
only as of the date of this MD&A. Our policy for updating forward-looking statements is to update our key operating 
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assumptions quarterly and, except as required by law, we do not undertake to update any other forward-looking 
statements. 

Non-GAAP Financial Measures 
Within this MD&A, references are made to terms commonly used as key performance indicators in the oil and gas 
industry. We believe that operating income, operating netback, payout ratio, free cash flow and cash costs are useful 
supplemental measures for management and investors to analyze operating performance, financial leverage, and 
liquidity, and we use these terms to facilitate the understanding and comparability of our results of operations and 
financial position. However, these terms do not have any standardized meanings prescribed by GAAP and therefore may 
not be comparable with the calculations of similar measures for other entities. 

Operating income is calculated as royalty and other revenue less royalty and operating expenses. It shows the 
profitability of our revenue streams as it provides the cash margin for product sold after directly related expenses. 
Operating netback, which is calculated as average unit sales price less royalty and operating expenses, represents the 
cash margin for product sold, calculated on a per boe basis (see our Netback Analysis section for calculations).  

Payout ratios are often used for dividend paying companies in the oil and gas industry to identify its dividend levels in 
relation to the funds it receives and uses in its capital and operational activities. Payout ratio is calculated as dividends 
declared as a percentage of funds from operations.  

Free cash flow is calculated by subtracting capital expenditures from funds from operations. In periods where Freehold 
has no capital expenditures, this figure is interchangeable with funds from operations. Free cash flow is a measure often 
used by dividend paying companies to determine cash available for the payment of dividends, reducing debt or available 

for investment.  

Cash costs is a total of all recurring costs in the statement of income deducted in determining funds from operations. 
For Freehold cash costs are identified as operating expense, G&A expense, interest expense and share based 
compensation payments. It is key to funds from operations, representing the ability to sustain dividends, repay debt 
and fund capital expenditures. 

 
 
We refer to various per boe figures which provide meaningful information on our operational performance. We derive 
per boe figures by dividing the relevant revenue or cost figures by the total volume of oil, NGL and natural gas production 
during the period, with natural gas converted to equivalent barrels of oil as described above. 

($000s) 2020 2019 Change
Operating expense 2,032$               3,945$                -48%
General and administrative expenses 10,930               12,063 -9%
Interest and financing expense 3,226                  4,002 -19%
Expenditures on share based compensation 389                     544                     -28%
Total cash costs 16,577$             20,554$             -19%
   Per boe ($) 4.63$                  5.30$                  -13%
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Conversion of Natural Gas to Barrels of Oil Equivalent (boe) 
To provide a single unit of production for analytical purposes, natural gas production and reserves volumes are 
converted mathematically to equivalent barrels of oil (boe). We use the industry-accepted standard conversion of six 
thousand cubic feet of natural gas to one barrel of oil (6 Mcf = 1 barrel). The 6:1 boe ratio is based on an energy 
equivalency conversion method primarily applicable at the burner tip. It does not represent a value equivalency at the 

wellhead and is not based on either energy content or current prices. While the boe ratio is useful for comparative 
measures, it does not accurately reflect individual product values and might be misleading, particularly if used in 
isolation. As well, given that the value ratio, based on the current price of crude oil to natural gas, is significantly different 
from the 6:1 energy equivalency ratio, using a 6:1 conversion ratio may be misleading as an indication of value. 
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Management’s Report  
The accompanying consolidated financial statements and other financial information in this Financial Report have been 
prepared by management, who is responsible for their integrity, consistency, objectivity and reliability. To fulfill this 
responsibility, Freehold maintains policies, procedures and systems of internal control to ensure that reporting practices 
and accounting and administrative procedures are appropriate to provide reasonable assurance that the assets are 

safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and relevant and reliable financial information is produced.   

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and, where appropriate, reflect estimates based on management’s judgment. The financial information 
presented throughout this Financial Report is generally consistent with the information contained in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements. 

Independent auditors, KPMG LLP, were appointed by the shareholders to perform an examination of the corporate and 
accounting records so as to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. Their examination included 
tests and procedures considered necessary to provide reasonable assurance that the consolidated financial statements 
are presented fairly in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

The consolidated financial statements have been further reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors acting 
through its Audit Committee, which is comprised of independent directors. The Audit Committee, which meets with the 
auditors and management to review the activities of each and reports to the Board of Directors, oversees management’s 
responsibilities for the financial reporting and internal control systems. The auditors have full and direct access to the 
Audit Committee and meet periodically with the committee both with and without management present to discuss their 
audit and related findings. 

 

 
(signed) "David M. Spyker"     (signed) "David W. Hendry"    
 
David M. Spyker      David W. Hendry 
President and Chief Executive Officer     Vice-President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer  

 

March 4, 2021 
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205 5th Avenue SW 
Suite 3100 
Calgary AB T2P 4B9 
Telephone (403) 691-8000 
Fax (403) 691-8008 
www.kpmg.ca 

 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 

To the Shareholders of Freehold Royalties Ltd. 
 

Opinion 
 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Freehold Royalties Ltd. (the 
“Company”), which comprise: 

 
−      the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 

 
− the consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) for the 

years then ended 
 

−      the consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity for the years then ended 
 

−      the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended 
 

− and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies 

 

Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”. 
 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2020 and December 
31, 2019, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 
years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

Basis for Opinion 
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report. 

 

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

 
 
 
 
 

© 2020 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved.
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Key Audit Matters 
 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters. 

 

We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be 
communicated in our auditors’ report. 

Assessment of the royalty revenue accrual 
 

Description of the matter 
 

We draw attention to note 1, note 3 and note 12 to the financial statements. The Company’s 
royalty revenue accrual as of December 31, 2020 was $14.6 million. The Company earns 
royalty revenue from the sale of crude oil, natural gas, natural gas liquids and other products 
(“oil and gas”) that is recognized as it accrues in accordance with the terms of the leases 
and royalty agreements, which is generally in the month when the oil and gas is produced. 
The royalty revenue accrual is necessary due to the delay between the timing of oil and gas 
production and when the Company receives its royalty production and payment, which is 
typically a time lag of approximately two months. 

 

The estimate of the royalty revenue accrual is based upon certain significant assumptions: 
 

•  Royalty production 
 

•  Realized commodity prices. 
 

Royalty production is based on historical production information, new wells on stream and 
publicly available production data pursuant to the terms of the Company’s leases and royalty 
agreements. The realized commodity prices are based on publicly available price 
benchmarks, adjusted for quality, location, allowable deductions, or other factors pursuant 
to the terms of the Company’s leases and royalty agreements. 

 

Why the matter is a key audit matter 
 

We identified the assessment of the royalty revenue accrual as a key audit matter. This 
matter represented an area of significant risk of material misstatement given the magnitude 
of the royalty revenue accrual and the high degree of estimation uncertainty in determining 
the royalty revenue accrual. Significant auditor judgment and effort was required to evaluate 
evidence supporting the  Company’s royalty  production and  realized commodity price 
assumptions.
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How the matter was addressed in the audit 
 

The primary procedures we performed to  address this key audit matter included the 
following: 

 

We compared the Company’s prior year’s royalty revenue accrual to received royalty 
production and received realized commodity prices to assess the Company’s ability to 
accurately estimate. 

 

We evaluated the reasonableness of the Company’s royalty revenue accrual by: 
 

• Comparing the Company’s royalty production assumptions for oil and gas to 2020 
received royalty production. We took into account changes in conditions and events 
affecting the Company to assess the adjustments or lack of adjustments made by the 
Company in arriving at the royalty production assumptions 

• Developing an expectation of the realized commodity prices for oil and gas based on 
publicly available price benchmarks adjusted for quality, location, allowable deductions, 
or other factors 

• Developing an expectation of the royalty revenue accrual for oil and gas based on the 
Company’s royalty production assumptions and our expectation of the realized 
commodity price assumptions and comparing the expectation to the Company’s royalty 
revenue accrual 

•  Comparing the royalty revenue accrual to cash received subsequent to December 31, 
2020, for a selection of customers. 

 

Assessment of indicators of impairment for the United States and 
Canadian royalty cash generating units and exploration and evaluation 
assets 

 
Description of the matter 

 
We draw attention to note 1, note 3 and note 6 to the financial statements. The Company 
assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that the United States and 
Canadian royalty cash generating units within petroleum and natural gas interests and 
exploration and evaluation assets may be impaired. Significant management judgment is 
required to analyze internal and external indicators of impairment for petroleum and natural 
gas interests and exploration and evaluation assets with the estimate of proved and 
probable petroleum and natural gas reserves and the related cash flows being significant to 
the assessment. 

 

The estimate of proved and probable petroleum and natural gas reserves and the related 
cash flows includes significant assumptions related to: 

•  Forecasted royalty production
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•  Forecasted oil and gas commodity prices. 
 

The Company engages external independent qualified reserve evaluators to estimate the 
proved and probable petroleum and natural gas reserves and the related cash flows as at 
December 31, 2020. 

 

Why the matter is a key audit matter 
 

We identified the assessment of indicators of impairment for the United States and Canadian 
royalty cash generating units and exploration and evaluation assets as a key audit matter. 
Significant auditor judgment was required to evaluate the results of our audit procedures 
with respect to the internal and external indicators of impairment including the estimate of 
proved and probable petroleum and natural gas reserves and the related cash flows. 

 

How the matter was addressed in the audit 

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this key audit matter: We 

evaluated the Company’s assessment of internal and external indicators of impairment 
by considering whether quantitative and qualitative information in the analysis was 
consistent with internal and external market and industry data, the Company’s press 
releases and certain minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors and the estimate of 
proved and probable petroleum and natural gas reserves and the related cash flows. 

 

With respect to the estimate of proved and probable petroleum and natural gas reserves 
and the related cash flows as at December 31, 2020: 

• We evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the external independent 
qualified reserve evaluators engaged by the Company 

• We compared forecasted oil and gas commodity prices to those published by other 
external independent qualified reserve evaluators 

• We compared the 2020 actual royalty production of the Company to those estimates 
used in the prior year’s estimate of proved petroleum and natural gas reserves and the 
related cash flows to assess the Company’s ability to accurately forecast 

• We evaluated the appropriateness of forecasted royalty production from proved and 
probable petroleum and natural gas reserves by comparing to 2020 historical results. 
We took into account changes in conditions and events affecting the Company to assess 
the adjustments or lack of adjustments made by the Company in  arriving at  the 
assumptions. 

Other Information 
 

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises: 
 

−      the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant 
Canadian Securities Commissions.
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− the information, other than the financial statements and the auditors’ report thereon, 
included in the 2020 Annual Report. 

 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit 
and remain alert for indications that the other information appears to be materially misstated. 

 

We obtained the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with 
the relevant Canadian Securities Commissions and the 2020 Annual Report as at the date 
of this auditors’ report. If, based on the work we have performed on this other information, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact in the auditors’ report. 

 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance 
for the Financial Statements 

 
Management is  responsible for  the  preparation and  fair  presentation of  the  financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial 
reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 

 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists.
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Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 

We also: 
 

− Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 

− Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that  are appropriate in  the circumstances, but  not  for  the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

 

− Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 

− Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

 

− Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

− Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

− Provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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− Determine, from the matters communicated with those charged with governance, those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our auditors’ report because the adverse consequences of doing so 
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this auditors’ report is Brad William 
Robertson. 

 

 
 

Chartered Professional Accountants 
 
 

Calgary, Canada 
March 4, 2021 



2020 | Annual Report | Freehold Royalties Ltd. 44

 

2020 | Consolidated Financial Statements | Freehold Royalties Ltd.  2 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 

 
Subsequent events (note 4 and 10) 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

 

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors of Freehold Royalties Ltd.: 

(signed) "Marvin F. Romanow" (signed) "Arthur N. Korpach" 

Marvin F. Romanow 
Director 

Arthur N. Korpach 
Director 

December 31, December 31,
($000s) 2020 2019

Assets
Current assets:

Cash 1,026$            1,199$               
Restricted cash and prepaids (note 4) 63,332            -                      
Accounts receivable (note 17) 16,017            24,894               
Income tax deposits (note 15) 14,711            -                      

95,086            26,093               
Exploration and evaluation assets (note 5) 80,152            85,850               
Petroleum and natural gas interests (note 6) 638,397         714,820             
Deferred  income tax asset (note 15) 16,274            13,130               
Total Assets 829,909$       839,893$          

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current liabilities:

Dividends payable (note 11) 2,376$            6,232$               
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 17) 3,913              3,895                 
Subscription receipts obligation (note 4) 60,709            -                      
Current portion of lease obligation (note 7) 195                 49                       
Current portion of share based compensation payable (note 10) 658                 745                     
Current portion of decommissioning liability (note 8) -                  806                     

67,851            11,727               
Lease obligation (note 7) 1,718              1,876                 
Decommissioning liability (note 8) 6,926              9,216                 
Share based compensation payable (note 10) 975                 597                     
Long-term debt (note 9) 93,000            109,000             

Shareholders' equity:
Shareholders' capital (note 11) 1,272,397      1,271,763         
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (40)                  (17)                      
Contributed surplus 3,763              3,175                 
Deficit (616,681)        (567,444)           
Total Shareholders' Equity 659,439         707,477             
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 829,909$       839,893$          
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Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) 
and Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

  

Year Ended December 31
($000s, except per share and weighted average data) 2020 2019

Revenue:
Royalty and other revenues (note 12) 89,958$         140,837$          

Expenses:
General and administrative 10,930            12,063               
Operating 2,032              3,945                 
Interest and financing (note 13) 3,373              4,249                 
Share based compensation expense (note 10) 1,071              1,408                 
Depletion, depreciation and other (note 6) 79,393            94,912               
Impairment (note 6) 9,600              14,056               
Management fee (note 14) 634                 1,743                 

107,033         132,376             

Income (loss) before taxes (17,075)          8,461                 

Deferred income tax expense (recovery) (note 15) (3,144)             3,268                 

Net income (loss) (13,931)$        5,193$               
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Foreign currency translation of foreign operations (23)$                (17)$                   
Comprehensive income (loss) (13,954)$        5,176$               
Net income (loss) per share, basic and diluted (0.12)$             0.04$                 

Weighted average number of shares:
Basic 118,685,218 118,486,297     
Diluted 118,685,218 118,713,229     
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

Year Ended December 31
($000s) 2020 2019

Operating:
Net income (loss) (13,931)$        5,193$               
Adjustments for:  
Accretion of decommissioning liability and lease obligation (note 13) 147                 247                     
Share based compensation expense (note 10) 1,071              1,408                 
Depletion, depreciation and other (note 6) 79,393            94,912               
Impairment (note 6) 9,600              14,056               
Management fee (note 14) 634                 1,743                 
Deferred income tax expense (recovery) (note 15) (3,144)             3,268                 
Expenditures on share based compensation (note 10) (389)                (544)                   
Decommissioning expenditures (note 8) (490)                (2,185)                
Funds from operations 72,891            118,098             
Changes in non-cash working capital (note 18) (7,124)             (12,297)              

65,767            105,801             
Financing:
Subscription receipt proceeds (note 4) 60,709            -                      
Restricted cash related to subscription receipts (note 4) (60,709)          -                      
Dividends paid (note 11) (39,158)          (74,663)              
Long-term debt drawing (repayment) (16,000)          19,000               
Subscription receipts issuance costs (note 4) (1,322)             -                      
Lease obligation paid (49)                  -                      
Changes in non-cash working capital (note 18) 166                 -                      

(56,363)          (55,663)              
Investing:
Acquisitions and related expenditures (note 6) (7,058)             (49,689)              
Working interest dispositions (note 6) (2,338)             (126)                   
Prepaid costs on U.S. royalty properties' acquisition (note 4) (1,301)             -                      
Changes in non-cash working capital (note 18) 1,146              (379)                   

(9,551)             (50,194)              
Decrease in cash (147)                (56)                      
Impact of foreign currency on cash balance (26)                  (7)                        
Cash, beginning of year 1,199              1,262                 
Cash, end of year 1,026$            1,199$               
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ 
Equity 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

Year Ended December 31
($000s) 2020 2019

Shareholders' capital:
Balance, beginning of year 1,271,763$    1,270,020$       
Shares issued for payment of management fee (note 14) 634                 1,743                 
Balance, end of year 1,272,397$    1,271,763$       

Accumulated other comprehensive loss:
Balance, beginning of year (17)$                -$                   
Other comprehensive loss (23)                  (17)                      
Balance, end of year (40)$                (17)$                   

Contributed surplus:
Balance, beginning of year 3,175$            2,569$               
Share based compensation (note 10) 588                 623                     
Other -                  (17)                      
Balance, end of year 3,763$            3,175$               

Deficit:
Balance, beginning of year (567,444)$      (497,974)$         
Net income (loss) (13,931)          5,193                 
Dividends declared (note 11) (35,306)          (74,663)              
Balance, end of year (616,681)        (567,444)           

659,439$       707,477$          
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 

1. Basis of Presentation 

Freehold Royalties Ltd. (Freehold) is incorporated under the laws of the Province of Alberta. Freehold’s primary focus is 
acquiring and managing oil and gas royalties. 

Freehold’s principal place of business is located at 1000, 517 – 10 Avenue SW, Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2R 0A8. 

a. Statement of compliance 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). A summary of Freehold's significant accounting policies under IFRS are presented in note 3.  

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on March 4, 2021. 

b. Basis of measurement and principles of consolidation 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, with the exception of certain fair 
value measurements noted in Significant Accounting Policies and include the accounts of Freehold and its wholly-owned 
subsidiaries: Freehold Royalties (USA) Inc., 1872348 Alberta Ltd., Freehold Holdings Trust and Freehold Royalties 

Partnership. All inter-entity transactions have been eliminated.  These consolidated financial statements are presented 
in Canadian dollars which is the presentation currency of Freehold. 

c. Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic 

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak to be a pandemic. Governments have 
taken significant steps to contain the spread of the virus, which have led to significant disruption of business operations 

and a significant increase in economic uncertainty, volatility in foreign currency exchange rates, and a decline in long-
term interest rates.  Although crude oil benchmark pricing has recovered and begun to stabilize from the low prices 
observed during April 2020, world demand still remains below last year’s level. Much of the focus causing a recent 
increase in oil pricing has been associated with the progress of COVID-19 vaccines rollouts and the subsequent demand 
response, as countries attempt to return to life before the pandemic. However, demand recovery remains uncertain as 
there has been a resurgence in the COVID-19 virus and its variants in certain geographic regions and this continues to 
negatively impact the pace of oil price recovery. The result of this economic uncertainty and the resulting direct and 
indirect impact on Freehold continue to be evaluated by management and could have a prospective material impact on 

its operations, cash flows and liquidity. 

d. Use of estimates and judgment 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities and 

the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ as a result of 
using estimates. 
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Petroleum and natural gas reserves  

The amounts recorded for the depletion of petroleum and natural gas interests, the provision for decommissioning 
liability, business combinations, indicators of impairment or impairment reversal and the amounts used in an 
impairment calculation are based on estimates of proved and probable petroleum and natural gas reserves. By their 
nature, these estimates of proved and probable petroleum and natural gas reserves and the related cash flows are 
subject to uncertainty including significant assumptions related to forecasted royalty production from proved and 
probable petroleum and natural gas reserves and forecasted oil and gas commodity prices and the impact on the 
financial statements of future periods could be material. Freehold’s proved and probable petroleum and natural gas 
reserves have been prepared at December 31, 2020 by the Company’s external independent qualified reserves 

evaluator. Significant management judgment is required to analyze internal and external indicators of impairment for 
petroleum and natural gas interests and exploration and evaluation assets with the estimate of proved and probable 
petroleum and natural gas reserves and the related cash flows being significant to the assessment. 

Unbooked future development locations 

Unbooked future development locations on royalty lands and the associated future cash flows can also be used in an 
impairment calculation. These unbooked future development locations are determined from a historical analysis of 
booking previously undeveloped reserves into the independently prepared reserve report. By their nature, this estimate 
and future cash flows are subject to uncertainty including significant assumptions related to future royalty production 
and forecasted oil and gas commodity prices and timing of third-party development. 

Decommissioning liability 

The decommissioning liability amounts recorded are based on estimates of inflation rates, risk-free rates, timing of 
abandonments and future abandonment and reclamation costs, all of which are subject to uncertainty. 

Share-based compensation 

The recorded amounts for share-based compensation include an estimate of forfeitures and certain management 

assumptions. Actual results could differ as a result of using estimates. 

Income taxes 

Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are recognized for the estimated tax consequences attributable to differences 
between the amounts reported in the financial statements and their respective tax bases, using enacted or substantively 
enacted income tax rates. The effect of a change in income tax rates on deferred income tax liabilities and assets is 
recognized in income in the period that the change occurs. The actual amount of income tax may be greater than or less 
than the estimates and the differences may be material. Management reviews the adequacy of these amounts at the 
end of the reporting period. However, it is possible that at some future date there is a change in the income tax liability 
or asset resulting from audits by taxing authorities. Where the probable outcome of these tax related matters is different 
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will affect the income tax provisions in the period in 

which such determination is made. 



2020 | Annual Report | Freehold Royalties Ltd. 50

 

2020 | Consolidated Financial Statements | Freehold Royalties Ltd.  8 

Cash generating units 

The determination of a cash generating unit (CGU) is subject to management judgment. The recoverability of petroleum 
and natural gas interests and exploration and evaluation assets are assessed at the CGU level. A CGU is the lowest level 
at which there are identifiable cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other CGUs. 

Business combination 

Each acquisition transaction is reviewed by management and judgment is used when determining if the transaction met 
the IFRS 3 inputs and processes criteria for business combinations. 

Petroleum and natural gas royalty revenue accruals 

Freehold follows the accrual method of accounting, making estimates in its financial and operating results. This may 
include estimates of revenues, which are based on significant assumptions related to royalty production and realized 
commodity pricing for the period being reported, for which actual results have not yet been received. It is expected that 
these accrual estimates will be revised, upwards or downwards, based on the receipt of actual results. Freehold has no 
operational control over its royalty lands and primarily holds small interests in several thousand wells. Thus, obtaining 

timely production data from the well operators is extremely difficult. As a result, the Company uses both historical 
production information, new wells on stream and publicly available production data pursuant to the terms of the 
Company’s leases and royalty agreements to determine royalty production. Realized commodity prices are based on 
publicly available price benchmarks, adjusted for quality, location, allowable deductions, or other factors pursuant to 
the terms of the Company’s leases and royalty agreements. These royalty revenue accrual estimates are revised based 
on actual royalty production volumes and realized commodity prices received in subsequent periods. The royalty 
revenue accrual is necessary due to the delay between the timing of oil and gas production and when the Company 
receives its royalty production and payment, which is typically a time lag of approximately two to three months. 

Judgment is required to determine the interests of royalty properties in areas where mineral rights are shared with a 
related party, Canpar Holdings Ltd. (Canpar). Freehold uses publicly available information on geological formations to 
apportion revenues between the entities in accordance with the respective party’s interests. As new geological 
information becomes available and as part of its ongoing internal audit activities, Freehold periodically revises these 
allocations and consideration is transferred to reflect the changes. 

2. New Accounting Standard Amendments 
On January 1, 2020 Freehold adopted the amendments to the definition of a business in IFRS 3 Business Combinations.  
The amendments are intended to provide additional guidance to determine if a transaction should be recorded as a 

business combination or an asset acquisition.  The amendments clarify the minimum requirements for a business, 
remove the assessment of whether market participants are capable of replacing any missing elements, add guidance to 
help entities assess if an acquired process is substantive, narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs, and 
introduce an optional fair value concentration test.  This standard was applied prospectively.  No business combinations 
were completed for the year ended December 31, 2020. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies 

a. Jointly controlled operations and jointly controlled assets 

Some of Freehold’s oil and gas activities involve jointly controlled assets. These consolidated financial statements 
include only Freehold’s share of the jointly controlled assets and a proportionate share of the relevant revenue and 
related costs. 

b. Exploration and evaluation assets 

Exploration and evaluation (E&E) costs are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 6, Exploration for and Evaluation of 
Mineral Resources. All E&E costs incurred after acquiring the “right to explore” are capitalized into a single cost pool. 
Upon determination of the technical feasibility and commercial viability of reserves, the associated E&E costs are first 
assessed for impairment and then the estimated recoverable amount is transferred to petroleum and natural gas 
interests. All costs incurred prior to acquiring the “right to explore” are expensed as incurred. At each reporting date, 

E&E costs are reviewed for indicators of impairment using internal and external market and industry data. If 
circumstances indicate the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the cost is written down to its recoverable 
amount and the difference is accounted for as an impairment expense. No depletion or depreciation is charged to E&E. 

c. Petroleum and natural gas interests 

Petroleum and natural gas interests 

Petroleum and natural gas interests are classified under International Accounting Standard (IAS) 16 as Property, Plant 
and Equipment and include both working and royalty interests, stated at cost, less accumulated depletion and 
accumulated impairment losses. All costs incurred after determining technical feasibility and commercial viability of 
reserves are capitalized. Subsequent expenditures are capitalized only where they enhance the economic benefits of the 

asset. A gain or loss on disposal of a petroleum and natural gas interest is recognized to the extent that the net proceeds 
exceed or are less than the appropriate portion of the capitalized costs of the asset. 

Depletion 

Petroleum and natural gas interests, including acquisition costs, future development costs (if any) and directly 
attributable general and administrative costs, are depleted on the unit-of-production method based on estimated 
proved plus probable petroleum and natural gas reserves as determined by an independent reserves engineering firm. 
Reserves are converted to equivalent units on the basis of relative energy content. 

Impairment and impairment reversals 

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that any CGU within petroleum and natural 
gas interests may be impaired. Significant management judgment is required to analyze internal and external indicators 
of impairment with the estimate of proved and probable petroleum and natural gas reserves. In some instances, there 
is also the potential for inclusion of unbooked future development locations on royalty lands and the related cash flows 

being significant to the assessment. If any such indication of impairment exists, Freehold makes an estimate of its 
recoverable amount. A CGU’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal (FVLCTD) and its 
value in use (VIU). Where the carrying amount of a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the CGU is considered impaired 
and is written down. In assessing VIU, the estimated future cash flows are adjusted for the risks specific to the CGU and 
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are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money. FVLCTD is the amount obtainable from the sale of assets in an arm’s length transaction less cost of disposal. 

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognized 
impairment losses may no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. 
A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the CGU’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case, the carrying amount of 
the CGU is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depletion, had no impairment loss been recognized for the CGU in prior periods. Such a 
reversal is recognized in profit or loss. After such a reversal, the depletion charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate 
the CGU’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

d. Decommissioning liability 

Freehold measures the decommissioning liability as the present value of management’s best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the liability at the reporting date using a risk-free discount rate. This estimate is 
recognized when a legal or constructive obligation arises and is recorded as both a short and long-term liability, with a 
corresponding increase in the carrying value of the petroleum and natural gas working interest asset. The capitalized 
amount is depleted on a unit-of-production method over the life of the reserves. At each reporting date, the passage of 
time and changes to estimates results in liability changes, and the amount of accretion is charged against current period 
income.  

e. Income tax 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. 

Current income tax 

Current tax is expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted 
at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred income tax 

Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred 

tax is not recognized on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable 
temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable 
right to offset, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on 
different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and 
liabilities will be realized simultaneously. 

A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the temporary difference can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 
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f. Share based compensation plans 

Award plan 

Freehold's award plan consists of grants of performance share units (PSUs) and restricted share units (RSUs) (combined 
the Award Plan). Underlying each PSU and RSU is one notional Freehold common share. The notional units are adjusted 
whenever a dividend is paid by Freehold. 

Upon vesting of the RSUs the holder is entitled to an amount equal in value to the notional Freehold common shares 
(as adjusted for dividends paid) underlying such RSUs. The value of the notional Freehold common shares is based on 
the volume weighted average trading price of Freehold common shares on the TSX for the five trading days prior to the 
settlement date of such RSUs. Generally, one-third of the granted RSUs will vest on each of the first, second and third 
anniversaries of the date of grant.  

For PSUs, the notional Freehold common shares and value are calculated in the same manner as the RSUs, but with the 
additional application of a performance multiplier. The metrics used for determining the performance multiplier (which 
can range from 0 to 2 times) are at the discretion of Freehold’s Board of Directors at the time of grant. Generally, all of 
the granted PSUs will vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant.  

Since participants receive a cash payment on a fixed vesting date, a liability is determined and recognized as services 
are rendered based on the fair value of the total rights at each period end. The valuation incorporates the consideration 
of the Freehold common share price, the number of notional Freehold common shares outstanding at each period end, 
an estimated performance multiplier, if applicable, and an estimated forfeiture rate. Compensation expense is 
recognized over the vesting period.  

Deferred share unit plan 

A deferred share unit (DSU) plan was established for the non-management directors of Freehold whereby fully-vested 
DSUs are granted annually. Under this plan, dividends paid to shareholders prior to redemption of the DSU are 
reinvested on behalf of the directors in additional DSUs. During 2020 the DSU plan was amended to allow Freehold at 
the time of settlement, at the discretion of the Board of Directors, to pay cash in lieu of issuing common shares on 

redemption of DSUs. Previously, the DSU plan only allowed for an equity settlement of such units. Freehold’s Board of 
Directors does not currently have a stated intent whether such future settlements of DSUs will be cash or equity-settled 
but because they have the ability to settle such transactions at their discretion through issuing common shares, this plan 
will continue to be classified as equity-settled. Compensation expense is recognized at the market value of Freehold’s 
common shares at the time of grant or dividend, with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus. Upon redemption 
of the DSUs for Freehold’s common shares, the amount previously recognized in contributed surplus is recorded as an 
increase to shareholders’ capital. 

g. Net income per share 

Basic net income per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding for each period. 
Diluted net income per share is calculated using the weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding for each 
period. Diluted shares outstanding are calculated assuming that any proceeds received from options with a market value 
in excess of option price would be used to buy back shares at the average market price for the period. 
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h. Revenue recognition 

Royalty and other revenue is made up of royalty, working interest and other revenue earned during the period. The vast 
majority of royalty and other revenue represents the sale of crude oil, natural gas, natural gas liquids and other products. 
It was determined that Freehold has two different types of revenue streams coming from the sale of these products:  
royalty revenue and working interest revenue. The Company earns royalty revenue from the sale of crude oil, natural 
gas, natural gas liquids and other products that is recognized as it accrues in accordance with the terms of the leases 
and royalty agreements, which is generally in the month when the oil and gas is produced. The royalty revenue accrual 
is necessary due to the delay between the timing of oil and gas production and when the Company receives its royalty 
production and payment, which is typically a time lag of approximately two to three months. 

Royalty and other revenue also includes bonus consideration and lease rentals which have different performance 
obligations. When a new mineral lease is executed, Freehold gives the third-party exclusive access to specifically 
identified lands for a certain time period and typically receives a lump sum non-refundable payment (bonus 
consideration). As the payment is non-refundable and access to land is granted, the performance obligation is met, and 
revenue is recognized when the lease is executed. Lease rental revenue is recognized annually on the anniversary date 
of the lease execution when the payment is due and received.  

Royalty and other revenue is measured at fair value of the consideration received or receivable per the terms of the 
various agreements. Freehold estimates royalty production based on historical production information, new wells on 
stream and publicly available production data and estimates realized commodity prices based on publicly available price 
benchmarks, adjusted for quality, location, allowable deductions, or other factors pursuant to the terms of the 
Company’s leases and royalty agreements. Actual results could differ as a result of using estimates and any differences 

are recorded in the period in which actuals are received. 

i. Financial instruments 

All financial instruments are recognized on the balance sheet initially at fair value. Subsequent measurement of all 
financial assets is measured at amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), or fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL). Subsequent measurement of all financial liabilities is measured at amortized cost or, 

optionally, FVTPL.   

All cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, dividends payable, accounts payables and accrued liabilities, subscription 
receipts obligation, lease obligation, and long-term debt are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
rate method.  No financial instruments have been classified as FVOCI or FVTPL.  

j. Foreign currency translations 

Foreign transactions 

Transactions completed in currencies other than the functional currency are translated into the functional currency at 
the exchange rates prevailing at the time of the transactions. Foreign currency assets and liabilities are translated to 
functional currency at the period-end exchange rate. Revenue and expenses are translated to functional currency using 
the average exchange rate for the period. Realized and unrealized gains and losses resulting from the settlement or 
translation of foreign currency transactions are included in net income or loss.  
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Foreign operations 

The functional currency of the Freehold's subsidiaries is the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the entity operates. Freehold’s United States subsidiary, Freehold Royalties (USA) Inc. operates and transacts primarily 
in U.S. dollars, and is considered to have a U.S. dollar based functional currency.  Freehold’s Canadian subsidiaries have 
a functional currency of Canadian dollars. The designation of a subsidiary's functional currency is a management 
judgment based on the currency of the primary economic environment in which the subsidiary operates. The financial 
statements of each entity are translated into Canadian dollars in preparation of the Company's consolidated financial 
statements. The assets and liabilities of a foreign operation are translated to Canadian dollars at the period-end 
exchange rate. Revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Canadian dollars using the average 

exchange rate for the period. Foreign exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income or loss.  

k. Related party transactions 

Monetary related party transactions and non-monetary related party transactions that have commercial substance are 
measured at the exchange amount when they are in the normal course of business. Where the transaction is not in the 
normal course of operations, it is measured at the exchange amount when there is a substantive change in the 

ownership of the item transferred and there is independent evidence of the exchange amount.  

4. Subscription Receipts Obligation, Restricted Cash and Prepaids and Subsequent 
Events 

a. Subscription receipts payable and restricted cash and prepaids 

On December 5, 2020, Freehold issued 12,647,667 subscription receipts at a price of $4.80 per receipt through a public 
offering pursuant to Freehold’s short form prospectus and a concurrent private placement (note 14). The total gross 
proceeds from these subscription receipts was $60.7 million. Each subscription receipt entitled the holder to receive: (i) 
upon occurrence of the all outstanding conditions precedent to the closing of Freehold’s acquisition of certain U.S. based 

royalty properties (see note 4b), one common share of Freehold; and (ii) a dividend equivalent payment equal to the 
number of subscription receipts times Freehold’s per share cash dividends paid or payable prior to the closing of its 
acquisition. As Freehold had an obligation to either issue the equivalent number of common shares or refund the 
subscription receipt proceeds as then held in trust, the Company reported subscription receipts payable and restricted 
cash of $60.7 million at December 31, 2020. 

During January 2021, subscription receipt holders on record at the close of business on December 31, 2020 received a 
cash payment totaling $0.3 million reported as an interest and financing charge on the Consolidated Statements of 
Income for the year ended December 31, 2020. 

Freehold incurred non-refundable costs associated with the December 2020 subscription receipts’ prospectus and 
January 2021 U.S. based royalty properties’ acquisition of $1.3 million and $1.3 million, respectively, as captured within 
restricted cash and prepaids on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2020. 
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b. Subsequent events 

U.S. Royalty Properties Acquisition 

During January 2021, Freehold closed a purchase agreement to acquire U.S. royalty properties for US$58 million ($74.0 
million) before customary adjustments. The acquisition included 400,000 gross acres of mineral title and overriding 
royalty interest across 12 basins in eight states; predominantly weighted towards the Permian and Eagle Ford basins 

which continue to see active drilling and development. The acquisition was financed through proceeds from the sale of 
subscription receipts (see note 4a) and a draw from the Company’s credit facility. This transaction is being treated as an 
asset acquisition resulting in the purchase price being allocated between undeveloped land and petroleum and natural 
gas interests as determined from estimated near and long-term cash flows. 

Equity Issuance and Debt Draw 

Freehold’s acquisition of the U.S. based royalty properties closed during January 2021 resulting in the 12,647,667 
subscription receipts (note 4a) being exchanged for an equivalent number of Freehold’s common shares concurrent 
with the release from escrow of gross proceeds of $60.7 million as then used to partially finance this acquisition with 
the remainder of the purchase price funded by drawing on Freehold’s credit facility. 

This equity issuance satisfied Freehold’s subscription receipt obligation as reported at December 31, 2020. 

5. Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

 
There were no indicators of impairment or impairment reversal for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. As a 
result, no impairment or impairment reversal testing was conducted.  

There was no impairment recorded as a result of the mandatory impairment assessment on the transfer of Exploration 
and Evaluation assets to Petroleum and Natural Gas Interests during the years ended December 31, 2020 or December 
31, 2019. 

December 31, December 31,
($000s) 2020 2019
Balance, beginning of year 85,850$         87,453$             
Acquisitions -                  3,995                 
Transfers to petroleum and natural gas interests (note 6) (5,698)             (5,598)                
Balance, end of year 80,152$         85,850$             
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6. Petroleum and Natural Gas Interests 

 

a. Acquisitions and other related expenditures 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, Freehold completed two acquisition transactions for certain U.S. royalty 
assets for $3.3 million. Freehold also recorded capitalized administrative costs of $2.1 million (2019 - $1.6 million) and 
costs for its royalty interests totaling $1.7 million. For the year ended December 31, 2019, Freehold had royalty 
acquisition activity of $48.1 million including $4.0 million of undeveloped land classified as an exploration and evaluation 

asset. 

b. Dispositions 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, Freehold disposed of certain working interest properties whereby the 
purchasers agreed to assume decommissioning liabilities of $3.8 million associated with these properties in exchange 
for Freehold paying $2.4 million, resulting in a gain on disposition of $1.4 million. There was no net carrying value of 

petroleum and natural gas working interest associated with these dispositions. 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, Freehold disposed of various minor working interest properties for negative 
proceeds of $0.1 million (including associated decommissioning liabilities). 

c. Depletion, depreciation and other 

For the year ended December 31, 2020, depletion, depreciation and other of $79.4 million (2019 - $94.9 million) was 
reported net of the aforementioned gain on disposition and government assistance for reclamations of $1.4 million and 
$0.3 million, respectively. 

The depletion calculation included $nil million (2019 - $5.2 million) for estimated future development costs associated 
with proved and probable petroleum and natural gas reserves.  

December 31, December 31,
($000s) 2020 2019
Cost
Balance, beginning of year 1,484,600$    1,434,437$       
Acquisitions and related expenditures 7,058              45,694               
Increase in right-of-use asset (note 7) -                  1,888                 
Capitalized portion of long term incentive plan 197                 148                     
Transfers from exploration and evaluation assets (note 5) 5,698              5,598                 
Decommissioning liability additions and revisions (note 8) 1,332              929                     
Working interest  dispositions (2,823)             (4,094)                
Balance, end of year 1,496,062$    1,484,600$       
Accumulated depletion and depreciation
Balance, beginning of year (769,780)$      (664,189)$         
Depletion and depreciation (81,108)          (94,912)              
Impairment (9,600)             (14,056)              
Accumulated depletion and depreciation of working interest dispositions 2,823              3,377                 
Balance, end of year (857,665)$      (769,780)$         
Net book value, end of year 638,397$       714,820$          
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d. Impairment and impairment reversal 

At December 31, 2020, there were no indicators of impairment on Freehold’s United States and Canadian Royalty CGUs 
or impairment reversal on the Working Interest CGU. As a result, no impairment or impairment reversal testing was 
conducted. 

Freehold tested both the Working Interest and the United States and Canadian Royalty CGUs carrying values as at March 
31, 2020 for impairment due to that period’s decrease in expected future commodity prices resulting from demand 

destruction caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. Freehold estimated the recoverable amount as the value in use based 
on discounted future net cash flows of proved and probable petroleum and natural gas reserves and unbooked future 
development locations using forecasted oil and natural gas commodity prices and costs for its Royalty and Working 
CGUs discounted at pre-tax rates of 8% to 10% and 25%, respectively. 

These CGUs’ value in use estimates as at March 31, 2020 were based on Freehold’s December 31, 2019 independently 
prepared reserve report internally adjusted for forward pricing, production and estimated reserve additions resulting 

from acquisition activities and an internally prepared estimate of unbooked future development locations. There was 
an impairment charged against the Working Interest CGU as at March 31, 2020 of $9.6 million as its carrying value 
exceeded its estimated value in use.  This resulted in the estimated recoverable amount of the Working Interest CGU 
being measured at $nil.   

The following table summarizes forecasted oil and gas commodity price benchmarks as at April 1, 2020 used in the 

determination of recoverable values as at March 31, 2020: 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, Freehold closed a royalty asset exchange, terminating a production volume 
royalty (PVR) agreement in exchange for a new gross overriding royalty on certain related properties. Management’s 
best estimate of the new gross overriding royalty’s fair value less costs to sell was $14.1 million lower than the carrying 
value of the PVR resulting in an equivalent impairment charge for the year ended December 31, 2019. This exchange 
transaction was not considered an indicator of impairment within Freehold’s Canadian Royalty CGU. There were no 
indicators of impairment as at December 31, 2019. 

7. Lease Obligation 
In June 2019, Freehold entered into a head office lease sharing agreement with Rife Resources Ltd. (related party - see 
note 14) and recognized a right of use asset of $1.9 million that was equal to the present value of the lease obligations. 
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate used to determine this lease obligation was 5%, which was Freehold’s 

estimate of the applicable incremental borrowing rate at the time it entered into this lease. Under this lease agreement, 
Freehold is responsible for its proportional share of the new office lease with a floating allocation estimated between 
40% to 60% of the total lease payments. The first payment on this office lease began on October 1, 2020. 

WTI WCS AECO Exchange rate
US$/bbl Cdn$/bbl Cdn$/Mcf Cdn$/US$

2020 29.17 19.21 1.74 0.70

2021 40.45 34.65 2.20 0.73

2022 49.17 46.34 2.38 0.75

2023 53.28 51.25 2.45 0.75

2024 55.66 54.28 2.53 0.75

2025 56.87 55.72 2.60 0.75

Average annual increase, thereafter 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%                          -   
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Freehold has the following future commitment for its head office lease: 

 

8. Decommissioning Liability 

 
Freehold has no decommissioning liability on its royalty interest properties. Freehold’s decommissioning liability results 
from its responsibility to abandon and reclaim its net share of its working interest properties. The undiscounted value 
of Freehold’s total decommissioning liability is estimated to be $6.9 million (2019 – $10.4 million). Payments to settle 

the obligations are expected to occur over the next 41 years, with the majority being settled within 20 years. At 
December 31, 2020, a risk-free rate of 1.2% (2019 – 1.8%) and an inflation rate of 1.5% (2019 – 1.4%) were used to 
calculate the present value. 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, Freehold benefited from a new federal government funded site 
rehabilitation program administered by the Alberta government. This program allows oil and gas producers to nominate 

inactive well sites or suspended pipelines across any stage of the abandonment and reclamation process for partial or 
full government funding. After approval but upon completion of either the abandonment or reclamation work, the 
provincial government directly pays the service provider at which time Freehold credited depletion, depreciation and 
other for $0.3 million as offset through a reduction in the decommissioning liability. 

9. Long-Term Debt 

At December 31, 2020 Freehold had a committed $165 million secured revolving credit facility with a syndicate of four 
Canadian chartered banks. In addition, Freehold had available a $15 million senior secured operating facility. At 
December 31, 2020 $93 million was drawn on these facilities (December 31, 2019 - $109 million). 

In May 2019 Freehold amended its credit agreement. The current maturity date of the credit facilities is May 31, 2022 

and Freehold may annually request an extension to the maturity date. The credit facilities are not reserve-based but are 

December 31, December 31,
($000s) 2020 2019
Less than 1 year 195$               49$                     
1-3 years 634                 593                     
4-5 years 542                 499                     
After 5 years 1,321              1,600                 
Total estimated lease payments 2,692$            2,741$               
Estimated interest over term of lease (779)$              (816)$                 
Present value of net estimated lease payments 1,913$            1,925$               
Current portion of liability 195$               49$                     
Long-term portion of liability 1,718$            1,876$               

December 31, December 31,
($000s) 2020 2019
Balance, beginning of year 10,022$         11,906$             
Liabilities incurred -                  207                     
Expenditures (490)                (2,185)                
Revision in estimates (note 6) 1,332              722                     
Government assistance for reclamations (268)                -                      
Accretion expense (note 13) 110                 211                     
Liabilities disposed (note 6) (3,780)             (839)                   
Balance, end of year 6,926$            10,022$             
Current portion of liability -$                806$                  
Long-term portion of liability 6,926$            9,216$               
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secured with $400 million first charge demand debentures over all of Freehold’s assets. The credit agreement contains 
two financial covenants. The first financial covenant is that long-term debt to EBITDA on royalty interest properties 
(calculated as earnings on royalty interest properties before non-cash charges including, but not limited to, interest, 
taxes, depletion and depreciation and amortization) shall not exceed 3.5 times. The actual ratio was 1.2 times at 
December 31, 2020. The second financial covenant is that the long-term debt to capitalization (the aggregate of long-

term debt and shareholders’ equity) percentage shall not exceed 55%. The actual percentage was 12% at December 31, 
2020. In addition, Freehold has an affirmative covenant that it must maintain a minimum of 90% of total EBITDA from 
royalty interest properties over the previous twelve-month period. The actual percentage was 100% at December 31, 
2020. Freehold was in compliance with all covenants as at December 31, 2020.  In addition, Freehold forecasts to be in 
compliance with all covenants on a quarterly basis for at least the next 12 months based on Freehold’s current best 
estimate of results from operations.  As a result of significant uncertainties that exist around the economic impact of 
COVID-19, actual operating results may vary from Freehold’s current best estimate. 

Borrowings under the credit facilities bear interest at the bank’s prime lending rate, bankers’ acceptance or LIBOR rates 
plus applicable margins and standby fees, dependent on ratios of Freehold’s long-term debt to EBITDA on royalty 
interest properties. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the average effective interest rate on advances under 
Freehold’s credit facilities was 2.5% (2019 – 3.5%). 

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the fair values of the long-term debt approximated its carrying values, as the long-
term debt carries interest at prevailing market rates. 

10. Share Based Compensation  

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, expensed share-based compensation associated with Freehold’s 
Award Plan and deferred share unit plan was $1.1 million and $1.4 million, respectively. 

a. Award Plan 

Freehold’s Award Plan is share based and cash settled and consists of grants of PSUs and RSUs. 

Share-based compensation expense is based on Freehold’s share price, the number of share-based awards outstanding 
at each period end, a notional adjustment for paid dividends and an estimated forfeiture rate. Compensation expense 
is recognized over the vesting period.  Also, for the PSUs there is a performance multiplier of 0 to 2 times based upon 
50% of an absolute total shareholder return and 50% on a relative total shareholder return over a three-year period. 

The following table reconciles the change in share-based incentive compensation payable: 

 
 

  

December 31, December 31,
($000s) 2020 2019
Balance, beginning of year 1,342$            953$                  
Increase in liability 680                 933                     
Cash payout (389)                (544)                   
Balance, end of year 1,633$            1,342$               
Current portion of liability 658$               745$                  
Long-term portion of liability 975$               597$                  
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The following table reconciles the outstanding number of combined RSUs and PSUs: 

 

b. Deferred share unit plan  

Pursuant to our deferred share unit plan, fully-vested DSUs are granted annually in the first quarter to members of the 
Board of Directors and are redeemable for an equal number of Freehold common shares upon the member’s retirement. 

Dividends paid prior to redemption are reinvested on behalf of the member in additional DSUs. The following table 
reconciles the outstanding number of DSUs: 

 
Subsequent to December 31, 2020, Freehold’s 2021 annual DSU grant to its Board of Directors was issued totaling 93,088 
units. 

11. Shareholders’ Capital  

Freehold has authorized an unlimited number of common shares, without stated par value. Freehold has authorized 
10,000,000 preferred shares, without stated par value, of which none have been issued. 

a. Shares Issued and Outstanding 

 

b. Dividends 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, Freehold declared dividends of $35.3 million (2019 - $74.7 million) or $0.30 
per common share (2019 - $0.63 per common share). During this same year, Freehold paid dividends of $39.2 million 
(2019 - $74.7 million) or $0.33 per common share (2019 - $0.63 per common share). 

On December 15, 2020, the Board of Directors declared a dividend of $0.02 per common share or $2.4 million paid on 

January 15, 2021 to common shareholders on record on December 31, 2020. 

12. Revenues 
Royalty and other revenue is measured at fair value of the consideration received or receivable, per the terms of 

various agreements. The transaction price used for crude oil, natural gas, natural gas liquids and other products is 

December 31, December 31,
(Number of Units) 2020 2019
Balance, beginning of year 333,106         321,304             
Units issued 671,689         207,194             
Estimated and actual forfeitures (220,273)        (45,252)              
Paid out (97,730)          (150,140)           
Balance, end of year 686,792         333,106             

December 31, December 31,
(Number of Units) 2020 2019
Balance, beginning of year 236,311         160,192             
Annual grants 66,529            58,646               
Additional grants resulting from paid dividends 22,793            17,473               
Balance, end of year 325,633         236,311             

(Number of Units or $000s) Shares Amount Shares Amount
Balance, beginning of year 118,622,667     1,271,763$        118,402,667 1,270,020$       
Issued for payment of management fee 165,000             634                      220,000         1,743                 
Balance, end of year 118,787,667     1,272,397$        118,622,667 1,271,763$       

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
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based on the commodity price in the month of production specific to the property or interest. The realized 
commodity price received or receivable is based on publicly available benchmarks adjusted for quality, location, 
allowable deductions or other factors pursuant to the terms of the Company's leases and royalty agreements. 
 
Freehold takes its product in kind (TIK) on certain royalty and working interest properties when deemed beneficial 

to do so. In this case, Freehold would receive its cash payment on or about the 25th day of the month following 
production. Typically, if a property is non-TIK then Freehold would receive the cash payment approximately two 
months following production. Bonus consideration received or receivable can vary significantly period over period 
as it is dependent on the specific details of each lease and the number of leases issued. 

a. Revenue and other revenue by commodity type 

 

b. Revenue and other revenue by category 

 
 

As at December 31, 2020, there was outstanding accounts receivable of $15.6 million (2019 - $23.9 million) of 
accrued royalty and other revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 there were no significant 
royalty and other revenue adjustments relating to prior periods. 

13. Interest and Financing 

 

December 31, December 31,
($000s) 2020 2019

Oil 64,386$         113,379$          

Natural gas 16,264            15,294               

NGL 7,017              10,120               

Potash 1,042              1,173                 

Bonus consideration and lease rentals 1,565              1,521                 
Royalty and other revenues by type before royalty expense 90,274$         141,487$          
Royalty expense (316)                (650)                   

Royalty and other revenues 89,958$         140,837$          

December 31, December 31,
($000s) 2020 2019

Royalty interest revenues before bonus consideration and lease rentals 87,662$         135,305$          

Bonus consideration and lease rentals 1,565              1,521                 

Royalty revenues 89,227$         136,826$          

Working interest revenue before royalty expense 1,047              4,661                 

Royalty expense (316)                (650)                   

Royalty and other revenues 89,958$         140,837$          

December 31, December 31,

($000s) 2020 2019
Interest on long-term debt 2,903$            4,002$               
Dividend equivalent payments (note 4) 252                 -                      
Accretion of decommissioning liability (note 8) 110                 211                     
Accretion of lease obligation 37                    36                       
Other 71                    -                      
Interest and financing expense 3,373$            4,249$               
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14. Related Party Transactions 

Freehold does not have any employees. Rather, Rife Resources Management Ltd. is the manager (the Manager) of 
Freehold pursuant to an amended and restated management agreement (the Management Agreement). The Manager 
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Rife Resources Ltd. (Rife). Rife is 100% owned by the CN Pension Trust Funds (the pension 
funds for the employees of the Canadian National Railway Company), whereby both Rife and the CN Pension Trust Funds 
are shareholders of Freehold. Combined they have a 22% ownership in Freehold at December 31, 2020. Canpar Holdings 
Ltd. (Canpar) is managed by Rife and owned 100% by the CN Pension Trust Funds. Two of Rife and Canpar’s directors 
are also directors of Freehold. Key management including Freehold’s Board of Directors and executive officers, as 

indirectly charged to Freehold by the Manager, are also considered to be related parties. 

All amounts owing to/from the Manager, Rife, and Canpar are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on demand. All 
transactions were in the normal course of operations and were measured at the amount of consideration established 
and agreed to by the parties. 

a. Rife Resources Management Ltd.  

The Manager provides certain services for a fee based on a specified number of Freehold common shares issued on a 
quarterly basis, pursuant to the Management Agreement that capped the management fee at 41,250 Freehold common 
shares per quarter for 2020. This resulted in Freehold issuing 165,000 common shares (2019 – 220,000) as payment of 
the management fee to the Manager for the year ended December 31, 2020. The respective ascribed values of $0.6 
million and $1.7 million were based on the closing price of Freehold's common shares on the last trading day of each 

quarter. Effective January 1, 2021, the Management Agreement will limit the management fee at 27,500 shares per 
quarter for 2021. 

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Manager charged $11.0 million and $10.0 million in general and 
administrative costs, respectively. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, there was $0.7 million in accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities relating to these costs. 

b. Rife Resources Ltd. and CN Pension Trust Funds 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, Rife acquired 2,791,667 subscription receipts at $4.80 per receipt through a 
private placement that closed concurrently with Freehold’s public offering of subscription receipts pursuant to its 
December 2020 short form prospectus (see note 4b). No commission was paid in respect of the subscription receipts 
purchased by Rife pursuant to the private placement. This price per subscription receipt paid by Rife was equivalent to 

the public offering price. The total proceeds from this private placement were $13.4 million as captured as a portion of 
Freehold’s reported subscription receipt payable and restricted cash positions at December 31, 2020. During January 
2021 and per the same terms as the public offering, upon Freehold’s acquisition of U.S. based royalty properties, the 
private placement subscription receipts were exchanged for an equivalent number of Freehold’s common shares. 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, Freehold paid $1.8 million (2019 - $3.8 million) and $0.1 million (2019 - $nil) 

in cash dividends and dividend equivalent payments, respectively, to Rife and/or the CN Pension Trust Funds for their 
combined 22% ownership in Freehold’s common shares. The aforementioned no commission private placement also 
represented 22% of the total issued subscription receipts, and upon exchange on January 5, 2021 for the equivalent 
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number of common shares in Freehold, did not result in a change in the combined ownership percentage of Rife and 
the CN Pension Trust Funds in Freehold. 

In addition, Freehold receives royalties from Rife pursuant to various royalty agreements. For the year ended December 
31, 2020, Freehold received royalties of approximately $0.3 million (2019 – $0.7 million). At December 31, 2020, there 
was $nil (2019 - $0.1 million) in accounts receivable relating to these transactions. These transactions were measured 
at the exchange amount of consideration established and agreed upon by both parties. 

c. Canpar Holdings Ltd. 

Freehold and Canpar share mineral title ownership rights in a substantial land base in western Canada.  Generally, 
Canpar owns mineral rights that were below the deepest producing formation at the time that Freehold was created, 
and Freehold holds the balance of the mineral rights.  Where Freehold is not the legal registered owner of such mineral 
rights, Canpar holds these rights in trust for Freehold and receives the royalty payments in respect of such mineral rights 
on behalf of Freehold. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, there was $nil in accounts receivable and accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities relating to transactions with Canpar. 

d. Key management 

Expenses relating to compensation for key management personnel, considered to be Freehold’s Board of Directors and 
executive officers, are as follows: 

 
In December 2020, the Board of Directors approved an amendment to the DSU plan to permit each non-management 
Board member to elect on an annual basis to receive the equivalent fair value of DSUs in lieu of all or a portion of his or 
her annual remuneration. 

15. Income Taxes  
Freehold uses the balance sheet method of accounting for income taxes. The provision for taxes in the financial 
statements differs from the result which would have been obtained by applying the combined federal and provincial 

effective tax rate to Freehold’s income before taxes. This difference is reconciled as follows: 

 
  

December 31, December 31,
($000s) 2020 2019
Salaries, fees and benefits 1,971$            1,803$               
Share-based compensation 761                 899                     
Key management compensation 2,732$            2,702$               

December 31, December 31,
($000s, except as noted) 2020 2019
Income (loss) before taxes (17,075)$        8,461$               
Statutory income tax rate 24.8% 26.6%
Expected income tax expense (recovery) (4,235)$          2,251$               
Increase in income tax expense resulting from:
Effect of rate change 620                 1,008                 
Permanent differences and miscellaneous 471                 9                         
Total income taxes (3,144)$          3,268$               
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The components of the deferred income tax asset are as follows: 

 
As at December 31, 2020, Freehold had approximately $134 million (2019 - $128 million) of carry-forward non-capital 
losses (NCLs) and approximately $641 million (2019 - $710 million) of other tax pools that should be available to offset 
against future taxable profit. The carry-forward NCLs will expire between the years 2031 and 2040. Deferred income tax 
assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax losses can be utilized. 

The continuity of deferred income tax is as follows: 

 
Freehold’s deferred tax liability relates to its assets having a higher carrying value relative to the associated tax value. 
Freehold’s deferred tax asset primarily relates to the non-capital losses. When combined there is an overall net deferred 
tax asset. 

Freehold’s corporate income tax filings for 2015, 2018, and 2019 were reassessed by the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) 
in 2020 (the Reassessments). Pursuant to the Reassessments, deductions of $92.6 million of NCLs by Freehold were 
denied, resulting in reassessed taxes, interest, and penalties totaling $29.3 million, in addition to a denial of $129.1 
million of carried forward NCLs. Freehold has filed its objection of the Reassessments which required deposits totaling 
$14.7 million that have been provided to the CRA. 

Freehold has received legal advice that it should be entitled to deduct the NCLs and as such, management remains of 
the opinion that all tax filings to date were filed correctly and that it expects to be successful in its objection of these 
Reassessments and therefore the payment of these deposits held by the CRA should be refunded, plus interest, and the 
denied NCLs should be reinstated. 

16. Capital Management 

Freehold is a publicly traded dividend-paying corporation incorporated under the laws of the Province of Alberta. Its 
primary focus is acquiring and managing oil and gas royalties. Freehold receives revenue from oil and gas properties as 
reserves are produced, which is paid to shareholders through dividends on a regular basis over the economic life of the 
properties. Freehold’s objective for managing capital is to maximize long-term shareholder value by distributing to 

December 31, December 31,
($000s) 2020 2019
Non-capital losses 32,796$         31,361$             
Decommissioning liability 1,694              2,455                 
Lease obligation 461                 471                     
Share issue expense -                  410                     
Petroleum and natural gas interests (19,820)          (22,560)              
Other 1,143              993                     
Deferred income tax asset 16,274$         13,130$             

Balance Balance
December 31, Recognized in Recognized in December 31,

($000s) 2019 Profit or Loss Equity 2020
Non-capital losses 31,361$             1,435$                -$                32,796$             
Decommissioning liability 2,455                 (761)                    -                  1,694                 
Lease obligation 471                     (10)                       -                  461                     
Share issue expense 410                     (410)                    -                  -                      
Petroleum and natural gas interests (22,560)              2,740                  -                  (19,820)              
Other 993                     150                      -                  1,143                 
Total 13,130$             3,144$                -$                16,274$             
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shareholders any cash partially based on what is required for financing operations or capital investment growth 
opportunities that may offer shareholders better value.  

Freehold defines capital (or capitalization) as long-term debt, shareholders’ equity and working capital based on the 
consolidated financial statements. Freehold retains working capital primarily to fund capital expenditures or 
acquisitions, pay dividends and reduce bank indebtedness. Freehold’s capital structure is managed by taking into 
account operating activities, debt levels, debt covenants, capital expenditures, dividend levels and taxes, among others. 
In addition, changes in economic conditions, commodity prices and the risk characteristics of Freehold’s assets are 
considered. Freehold has a declining asset base, therefore ongoing development activities and acquisitions are necessary 
to replace production and add additional reserves. From time to time, Freehold may issue shares or adjust capital 
spending to manage current and projected debt levels. 

Management of Freehold’s capital structure is facilitated through its financial and operating forecasting processes. The 
forecast of Freehold’s future cash flows is based on estimates of production, commodity prices, forecast capital, royalty 
expenses, operating expenditures, taxes and other investing and financing activities. The forecast is regularly updated 
based on new commodity prices and other changes that Freehold views as critical in the current environment. Selected 
forecast information is frequently provided to and approved by the Board of Directors. 

Freehold is bound by non-financial covenants and two financial covenants (see note 9) on its credit facilities. The covenants 
are monitored as part of management’s internal review to ensure compliance with requirements. As at December 31, 
2020, Freehold was in compliance with all such covenants. 

Freehold’s 2020 net debt to funds from operations ratio was 0.9 times (2019 – 0.8 times) and well within our debt 
strategy target of below 1.5 times. This ratio is a financial leverage measure that reflects cash available to pay back our 
debts. It represents the number of years it would take Freehold to reduce its net debt to zero if funds from operations 
was held constant and there were no other cash outflow obligations required such as dividends and acquisitions, among 
others. 

a. Capitalization 

 
(1) Net debt as presented does not have any standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and therefore may not be comparable to a similar measure of other 

entities. 

b. Net debt to funds from operations 

 

December 31, December 31,
($000) 2020 2019
Shareholders' equity 659,439$       707,477$          
Long term debt 93,000            109,000             
Working capital (27,235)          (14,366)              
Net debt (1) 65,765$         94,634$             
Capitalization 725,204$       802,111$          

December 31, December 31,
($000, other than where noted) 2020 2019
Cash provided by operating activities for last 12 months 65,767$         105,801$          
Change in non-cash operating working capital 7,124              12,297               
Trailing 12 months funds from operations 72,891$         118,098$          

0.9 0.8Net debt to trailing 12 month funds from operations (times)
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17. Financial Instrument Risk Management 

Freehold has exposure to credit, liquidity and market risks from its use of financial instruments. Management employs 
the following strategies to mitigate these risks. 

a. Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to Freehold if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations and arises principally from Freehold’s receivables. A large part of accounts receivable is with oil 
and gas industry operators, either as joint venture partners or as payors of various royalty agreements. Credit risk has 
increased throughout the crude oil and natural gas industry because of liquidity challenges faced by Freehold’s royalty 
payers due to demand destruction caused by COVID-19 and the associated repressive effect on crude oil pricing. 
Collection of accounts receivable is a priority for Freehold, however its credit risk is relatively low because of the quality 
of Freehold’s more substantial royalty payors in addition to diversification through a broad number of remaining royalty 
payors that individually represent an insignificant amount of Freehold’s outstanding accounts receivable. To further 

mitigate credit risk, Freehold takes approximately 16% of its production in-kind and has a dedicated Compliance group 
that pursues collections. 

The carrying amounts of cash, restricted cash, the income tax deposit and accounts receivable represent Freehold’s 
maximum credit exposure. The restricted cash was released from escrow to Freehold subsequent to December 31, 2020 
as then partially used to finance its acquisition of U.S. royalty properties (note 4b). The income tax receivable is held by 
the Canadian Government (note 15). Freehold did not have an allowance for doubtful accounts as at December 31, 2020 

and 2019 and did not identify any significant receivables to write off during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 
2019. Freehold considers all material amounts greater than three months to be past due. Due to the nature of Freehold’s 
royalty income assets, there are amounts over three months which require significant time and effort to collect. 
Estimates of amounts owed for various time periods are as follows: 

 

b. Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that Freehold will not be able to meet financial obligations as they come due. Management 
maintains a conservative approach to debt management that aims to provide maximum financial flexibility with respect 
to acquisitions and development expenditures, while maintaining stable dividend payments. At December 31, 2020, 
there was $87 million of available capacity under the credit facilities and $60.7 million of subscription receipt proceeds 
reported as restricted cash. As circumstances warrant, management allocates a portion of funds from operations to 

debt repayment. Management prepares annual capital expenditure and operating budgets, which are regularly 
monitored and updated. In addition, dividend levels are monitored and adjusted as necessary, to levels that are 
supported by Freehold’s funds from operations. 

Freehold’s financial liabilities include its dividends payable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, subscription 
receipts payable, lease obligation, share based compensation payable and long-term debt. Freehold has no derivative 

financial liabilities.  The following table outlines required cash flows over the next three years associated with the 
contractual maturities of Freehold’s financial liabilities as at December 31, 2020: 

Less than 
($000s) 3 months 4-12 months over 1 year Total
Accounts receivable 15,148$             517$                   352$               16,017$             
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c. Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices and 
interest rates, will affect net income (loss) or the value of financial instruments. The Board reviews the potential use of 
derivative contracts on a quarterly basis. For short-term investments, if any, Freehold selects counterparties based on 
strong credit ratings and monitors all investments to ensure a stable return.  

Foreign currency exchange rate risk 

Freehold has royalty assets in the U.S. held by its wholly-owned U.S. subsidiary resulting in foreign currency exchange 

rate risk associated with these operations. With the January 2021 acquisition of U.S. based royalty properties (see note 
4b), this risk is expected to increase. Further, Freehold is exposed to foreign exchange fluctuations as a result of crude 
oil sales based on U.S. dollar benchmark prices. Freehold’s net income (loss), comprehensive loss and cash flows will be 
affected by fluctuations in foreign exchange. At December 31, 2020, Freehold had no foreign exchange related derivative 
contracts in place and the foreign currency exchange risk associated with its existing U.S. operations is expected to be 
insignificant. 

Commodity price risk 

Commodity price risk is the risk that the fair value of Freehold’s financial instruments will fluctuate with changes in 
commodity prices. Commodity prices for oil and natural gas are influenced by the relationship between the Canadian 
and U.S. dollar as well as macroeconomic events that dictate the levels of supply and demand. During the years ended 

December 31, 2020 and 2019, Freehold had no commodity price related derivative contracts in place. 

Interest rate risk 

Freehold is exposed to interest rate risk on outstanding bank debt, which has a floating interest rate, and fluctuations 
in interest rates would impact future cash flows. Assuming all other variables held constant at December 31, 2020, a 1% 
change (plus or minus) in the interest rate could result in a corresponding change to income (loss) before taxes of $0.9 
million. 

18. Supplemental Disclosure 

a. Statements of income (loss) and comprehensive loss presentation 

Freehold’s consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive loss are prepared by nature of expense. 

Less than 
($000s) 1 Year 2-3 Years Total
Dividends payable 2,376$                -$                2,376$               
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,913                  -                  3,913                 
Subscription receipts obligation 60,709                -                  60,709               
Lease obligation 195                      634                 829                     
Share based compensation payable 658                      975                 1,633                 
Long-term debt -                       93,000            93,000               
Total 67,851$              94,609$         162,460$          



2020 | Annual Report | Freehold Royalties Ltd. 69

 

2020 | Consolidated Financial Statements | Freehold Royalties Ltd.  27 

b. Supplemental cash flow disclosure 

Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital Balance 

 

Cash Expenses  

 

c. Net debt 

 
(1) Net debt as presented does not have any standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and therefore may not be comparable to a similar measure of other 

entities. 
 

December 31, December 31,
($000s) 2020 2019
Accounts receivable 8,881$            (11,961)$           
Income tax deposit (14,711)          -                      
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 18                    (715)                   

(5,812)$          (12,676)$           
Operating (7,124)$          (12,297)$           
Financing 166                 -                      
Investing 1,146              (379)                   

(5,812)$          (12,676)$           

December 31, December 31,
($000s) 2020 2019
Interest on long term debt 2,800$            3,981$               

December 31, December 31,
($000s) 2020 2019

Long-term debt 93,000$         109,000$          
Working capital (27,235)          (14,366)              
Net debt (1) 65,765$         94,634$             
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